
BELLMAN GROUP 

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 

 

  
1 

 

BELLMAN GROUP 
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 

 

 

  



BELLMAN GROUP 

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 

 

2 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

CONTENTS 

 

ABOUT BELLMAN GROUP .................................................................................................. 3 

THE YEAR AT A GLANCE ..................................................................................................... 4 

THE YEAR IN FIGURES ........................................................................................................ 5 

A WORD FROM OUR CEO .................................................................................................. 6 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ............................................................................................... 7 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT ................................................................................................. 10 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT ........................................................................................................ 13 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT AND STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME .... 18 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET ...................................................................................... 19 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY ...................................................... 21 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS .................................................................. 22 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ................................................. 23 

PARENT COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT AND STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME ........................................................................................................................... 53 

PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET ................................................................................. 54 

PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY ................................................. 55 

PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS ............................................................. 56 

NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY  .................................................................................. 57 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



BELLMAN GROUP 

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 

 

3 

  
 

 

ABOUT BELLMAN GROUP 
Bellman Group is a construction group that operates in rock blasting, soil removal, transport and 
mass handling in Sweden, primarily in the Stockholm and Gothenburg regions. The group consists of 
Bellmans, which is a transport company, Uppländska Berg, which performs blasting operations, VSM, 
which carries out excavation work with large machinery, and Samgräv, which is active in transport, 
mass handling and landfills. 
 
The group has sales of SEK 1.7 billion (pro forma), has 400 employees and employs 800 
subcontractors. The Bellman Group, with registered offices in Solna, Stockholm, has corporate bonds 
listed on Nasdaq Stockholm and the principal owner is Verdane Capital Partners. Bellman Group is a 
strong growth group with an explicit acquisition strategy. 
 
VISION 

We do not follow the development in the 

industry. We lead it.  

 

MISSION 

We make it possible to build.  

 

BUSINESS CONCEPT 

Bellman Group's business concept is to blast, 

shaft and transport with focus on quality, 

efficiency and safety in complex projects and 

environments for our customers in the 

construction sector. 

 

 

CORE VALUES 

Quality. Competence. Security.  

 

OVERALL GOALS 

The growth of Bellman Group shall be through 

the acquisition of established and profitable 

companies that complement and act within 

the framework of Bellman Group's offering 

where revenue synergies, rather than cost 

synergies, are a criterion and where the group 

shall not be perceived by its key customers to 

operate competing operations. Growth will 

also come through organic growth in existing 

subsidiaries.  
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THE YEAR AT A GLANCE 
 

JANUARY – DECEMBER 2018 

On 11 May, Bellman Group 

listed corporate bonds of 

SEK 220 million (within a 

framework amount of SEK 

400 million) at Nasdaq 

Stockholm. The bonds were 

previously listed on First 

North. 

 

Acquisition of VSM 

VSM Entreprenad AB with 

subsidiaries was acquired 17 

July 2018. To finance this 

acquisition, Bellman Group 

issued additional bonds of 

SEK 280 million. The new 

bonds were listed on 

Nasdaq Stockholm in July 

2018. 

 

Acquisition of 

Samgräv 

On 13 December 2018, 

Bellman Group entered into 

an agreement to acquire 

Samgräv Holding AB 

("Samgräv") a company 

focused on mediating and 

letting of construction 

machines. The acquisition 

was conditional on the 

Bellman Group receiving the 

required financing and that 

the Swedish Competition 

Authority submitted its 

approval to the transaction. 

On 31 January 2019, the 

group acquired all shares in 

Samgräv. The acquisition 

was financed through newly 

issued shares and the 

issuance of new bonds. 
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THE YEAR IN FIGURES 
 
 

 

 

 

 Net sales amounted to SEK 1,090.6 million (542.6), an increase of SEK 548.0 million 

compared with the corresponding period in 2017. 

 

 EBITDA for the period amounted to SEK 104.6 million (39.2) before items affecting 

comparability. 

 

 EBITDA for the period amounted to SEK 93.1 million (31.9), including items affecting 

comparability. 

 

 Operating profit amounted to SEK 51.3 million (14.6), which corresponds to an 

operating margin of 4.7 % (2.7). 

 

 Profit for the period amounted to SEK 25.1 million (3.8). 

 

 Earnings per share before and after dilution amounted to SEK 18.3 (3.8). 

 

 Cash flow from operating activities amounted to SEK 56.5 million (22.2). 

 

 The Board of Directors proposes that no dividend be paid for the fiscal year 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

MSEK 2018 2017 

Net sales 1,090.6 542.6 

EBITDA before items affecting comparability 104.6 39.2 

EBITDA after items affecting comparability 93.1 31.9 

Operating profit 51.3 14.6 

Net result for the period 25.1 3.8 

Earnings per share before and after dilution (SEK) 18.3 3.8 
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A WORD FROM OUR CEO 

We have an intensive year behind us. Growth in the 

company has been strong, driven by both acquisitions 

and organic growth. On 17 July, all of the shares in VSM 

Entreprenad AB were acquired, thereby further 

developing our offering in excavation with larger 

machines, primarily aimed at large infrastructure 

projects. On 13 December 2018, Bellman Group entered 

into an agreement to acquire Samgräv Holding AB a 

company focused on mediating and letting of 

construction machines, located in Gothenburg. With the 

acquisition, Bellman Group has significantly 

strengthened its position in the Västra Götaland region. 

Samgräv is a company focusing on transport and 

machine services as well as handling inert masses at own 

landfills and recycling stations. 

The group's sales for the period amounted to SEK 

1,090.6 million (542.6), an increase of SEK 548.0 million 

compared with the corresponding period in 2017. 

EBITDA for the period amounted to SEK 104.6 million 

(39.2) before items affecting comparability. 

Reinforced position 

In accordance with our strategy and business plan, in 

2018, we have completed acquisitions in line with our 

goal of being a comprehensive supplier within ground 

work and mass management, and to continue to be the 

obvious choice for our customers. Our customer base 

mainly consists of large and medium-sized construction/ 

infrastructure companies in Sweden. Building and 

infrastructure investments in Sweden are characterised 

by an increasing complexity, which places demands on 

our customers' partners. Here we not only distinguish 

ourselves by our size and our uniquely wide offer, but 

also by our extensive experience from complex projects 

where the requirements for project management skills, 

competence and time planning are crucial success 

factors. Our customers expect us to take the leadership 

role and together with them drive the development 

forward, with new solutions and standards. Our 

professionalism helps our customers develop, 

strengthen their business and processes, and deliver the 

best value to their customers.  

Stable foundation for further growth  

The new group, which has a pro forma turnover of 

approximately SEK 1.7 billion with a newly established 

near double-digit EBITDA margin level, has a stable basis 

for further growth through:  

• Good balance between the operations - a broad 

offering in rock blasting, excavation, transport 

and mass handling in Sweden, primarily the 

Stockholm and Gothenburg regions.  

• Strong underlying market, with large 

infrastructure investments spanning a long time 

horizon.  

• Low project risk in the business as the 

compensation model is largely variable/  

volume-based. Most of the business connects to 

infrastructure.  

• Quality provider who actively helps the customer 

during the project's process of solving the 

customer's problems.  

• Strong brand that the customer can always rely 

on. 

Håkan Lind, CEO of Bellman Group 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 
Bellman Group AB (publ) is a public Swedish limited 
liability company with its registered office in Stockholm, 
Sweden. Bellman Group's corporate bonds are listed on 
Nasdaq in Stockholm and are subject to the Swedish 
Companies Act and Nasdaq's regulations. Bellman Group 
does not apply the Swedish Code of Corporate 
Governance.  

 

Control 

Responsibility for management and control of the 
operations of Bellman Group AB with subsidiaries is 
allocated between the shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting, the Board of Directors, the CEO and 
the external auditor elected by the Annual General 
Meeting. Responsibility is based on the Swedish 
Companies Act, the Articles of Association, Nasdaq 
Stockholm's regulations and internal rules of procedure 
and instructions. These are applied and followed up with 
the help of common reporting routines and standards. 

 

Shareholders 
At year-end 2018, Bellman Group AB had a total of 11 
shareholders. The ten largest shareholders accounted 
for 99.3 per cent of the votes and 99.3 per cent of the 
capital. Detailed information on all of the company's 
shareholders can be found in note K28 in the annual 
report 2018. 

 

General Meeting 
The Annual General Meeting is the company's highest 
decision-making body and is held in Stockholm. 
Shareholders who wish to attend the Annual General 
Meeting must be registered in the share register no later 
than the date stated in the notice of the Annual General 
Meeting and submit a notification to the company. 
Shareholders who cannot participate in person may be 
represented by proxy. The company does not apply any 
special arrangements regarding the function of the 
Annual General Meeting, either because of regulations, 
or as far as is known to the company, shareholder 
agreement. The Articles of Association contain no 
limitations on how many votes each shareholder can 
cast at a general meeting. The Articles of Association 
contain no provisions on the appointment or dismissal of 
board members, and no provisions on amendments to 
the Articles of Association. 

 

Annual General Meeting 2018    

The Annual General Meeting was held on 7 May 2018 in 
Stockholm. At the AGM, owners representing 100 % of 
the votes participated. At the Annual General Meeting, it 
was resolved, among other things, that retained earnings 
along with profit for the period are to be carried 
forward, that the remuneration to the Board of Directors 
shall be paid according to the approved account, that 
fees to the auditor shall be paid according to approved 
invoice. Per Nordlander, Håkan Lind, Björn Andersson 

and Robin Karlsson were re-elected as directors of the 
Board of Directors for the period until the next Annual 
General Meeting. PricewaterhouseCoopers AB was re-
elected as ordinary authorised public accountants for 
the period until the next annual general meeting with 
Nicklas Kullberg as auditor in charge. 

 

Extraordinary General Meeting 2018 

An Extraordinary General Meeting was held on 10 
December 2018 in Stockholm. At the General Meeting, 
owners representing 100 % of the votes participated. At 
the General Meeting, it was resolved that Robin Karlsson 
resigns from the Board and that Christina Ragsten and 
Ingalill Östman are appointed as new directors and that 
Björn Andersson is appointed Chairman of the Board. 
The Board will then consist of Håkan Lind, Per 
Nordlander, Björn Andersson, Christina Ragsten and 
Ingalill Östman as directors. It was resolved that the 
remuneration up to the next Annual General Meeting 
2019 shall be SEK 175,000 to Björn Andersson, with SEK 
87,500 each to Christina Ragsten and Ingalill Östman and 
that no fee shall be paid to other directors. It was noted 
that the fee to Björn Andersson, Christina Ragsten and 
Ingalill Östman correspond to six months' fees. 

 

The Board of Directors 

According to a resolution by the Annual General 
Meeting, the Board of Directors shall consist of at least 3 
and a maximum of 10 members with a maximum of 5 
deputies. The Extraordinary General Meeting on 10 
December 2018 decided for the period until the Annual 
General Meeting 2019 to re-elect Björn Andersson, Per 
Nordlander and Håkan Lind as well as new election of 
Christina Ragsten and Ingalill Östman as directors. Björn 
Andersson was elected Chairman of the Board. The 
Board of Directors has adopted rules of procedure, an 
instruction for financial reporting and an instruction to 
the CEO. The rules of procedure regulate, among other 
things, the duties of the chairman, the matters to be 
dealt with at each board meeting and matters that are 
dealt with on a particular occasion during the year. 

 

Committee work 

The Remuneration Committee decides on terms of 
employment and remuneration to senior executives 
within group management. No remuneration is paid to 
members of the Remuneration Committee. Bellman 
Group's Chairman of the Board Björn Andersson is 
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and convenes 
with Per Nordlander as other member. Otherwise, the 
board did not work in any committees in 2018, but has 
handled the issues that would be handled by, for 
example, an audit committee in connection with regular 
board work. 
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The Board of Directors’ work during 2018  

The number of board meetings during 2018 amounted 
to 11, of which 5 were per capsulam. In addition to the 
day-to-day operations, issues regarding acquisitions 
have been discussed. The chairman has led the board's 
work and has had continuous contact with the CEO. 
Board meetings during 2018 have been recorded by the 
company's CFO. The minutes have been adjusted by one 
of the board members. 

 

Remuneration 

The Extraordinary General Meeting resolved that fees to 
the Board members Christina Ragsten and Ingalill 
Östman shall total SEK 175,000 and for the Chairman of 
the Board SEK 350,000 for a full year. No remuneration is 
paid to other directors, which means that the 
remunerations will not exceed SEK 700,000. 

 

Group management 

The group management has overall responsibility for the 
operations of Bellman Group in accordance with the 
strategy and the long-term goals set by the Board of 
Directors of Bellman Group AB. The CEO regularly 
discusses the business situation and other operational 
issues with other senior executives. 

  

Guidelines for remuneration to senior 
executives 

The Remuneration Committee decides on terms of 
employment and remuneration to senior executives 
within group management. The purpose of the 
committee is to; based on market conditions, review 
annual incentives and remuneration for both the fixed 
salary and the variable remuneration in the form of 
bonuses at achieved results. The committee also has the 
task of ensuring long-term sustainability by continuously 
following up appropriate incentives such as options or 
other forms of reward system in order to secure key 
personnel. Remuneration to the CEO and other 
members of group management shall consist of fixed 
salary, variable remuneration, other benefits and 
pension. The total remuneration shall be market-based 
and competitive and be in relation to responsibility and 
authority. The variable remuneration is based on results 
in relation to individually defined qualitative and 
quantitative targets and shall have a predetermined 
ceiling. In the event of termination of employment 
contract from the company, the notice of termination 
and severance pay shall not exceed, in total, twelve 
monthly salaries. Pension benefits must be defined 
contribution, unless special reasons justify otherwise. If 
there are special reasons in any individual case, the 
Board has the right to depart from the above guidelines. 
Remuneration to the CEO and other senior executives is 
shown in Note K8 in the Annual Report 2018. 

 

Audit  

The auditor is appointed by the AGM for a term of one 
year. According to the Articles of Association, Bellman 

Group AB shall appoint at least one and no more than 
two auditors with a maximum of two deputy auditors. 
Authorised public accountants or registered auditors 
must be appointed as auditors and, where applicable, 
deputy auditors. At the Annual General Meeting 2018, 
the auditing company PricewaterhouseCoopers AB was 
elected with Nicklas Kullberg as auditor in charge. The 
company's external auditor was present at one board 
meeting. In addition to the audit, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AB has assisted the company in 
discussions regarding acquisitions. Remuneration to the 
auditor shall, in accordance with the resolution of the 
AGM, be paid according to approved bill. The 
remuneration paid to the auditors for the financial year 
2018 is shown in note K9 in the annual report 2018. 

 

Review and internal control 
The Board has the ultimate responsibility for the 
company's follow-up and internal control and has 
delegated the day-to-day management of the company's 
affairs to the CEO, in an instruction to the company. The 
company is signed by the board or two in association 
with the board members. The Managing Director alone, 
in accordance with the Swedish Companies Act, signs for 
the company in ongoing administrative matters. The 
basis for internal control is the control environment, 
which consists of common reporting routines and 
standards, as well as the group's values and business 
ethics. There are a number of control activities built into 
each process to ensure that the business is run 
efficiently and that the financial reporting at each 
reporting occasion provides a faithful presentation. The 
control activities, which are aimed at preventing, 
detecting and correcting inaccuracies and deviations, 
exist at all levels and in all parts of the organization. 
Within Bellman Group AB, the control activities include 
control and analysis of sales statistics, account 
reconciliations, monthly financial statements and 
financial reports. 
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The auditor’s examination of the corporate governance 
statement 

To the general meeting of the shareholders in Bellman Group AB (publ), corporate identity number 559108-3729 

Engagement and responsibility 

The Board of Directors is responsible for that the corporate governance statement for 2018 on pages 7-8 has been 

prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. 

The scope of the audit 

Our examination of the corporate governance statement is conducted in accordance with FAR’s auditing standard 
RevU 16 The auditor’s examination of the corporate governance statement. This means that our examination of 

the corporate governance statement is different and substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in 

accordance with International Standards on Auditing and generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. We 

believe that the examination has provided us with sufficient basis for our opinions. 

Opinion 

A corporate governance statement has been prepared. Disclosures in accordance with chapter 6 section 6 the 

second paragraph points 2-6 of the Annual Accounts Act and chapter 7 section 31 the second paragraph the same 

law are consistent with the other parts of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts and are in accordance 

with the Annual Accounts Act. 

Stockholm 23 April 2019 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AB 
 
 
Nicklas Kullberg 
Authorised public accountant 
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 
 

Bellman Group's first sustainability report refers to the 
financial year 2018. The sustainability report has been 
prepared in accordance with the provisions of chapter 6 
section 10 of the Annual Accounts Act and includes 
Bellman Group and its subsidiaries. 

Bellman Group operates in rock blasting, excavation and 
transport with focus on quality, efficiency and safety in 
complex projects and environments for our customers in 
the construction sector. For more information about our 
business model, see page 13. 

The company has an operating system comprising 
quality, environment and work environment. This is built 
up in accordance with ISO 9001 and ISO 14001, which 
gives the company a platform for systematising the 
business and being able to produce company and object-
adapted policy documents, risk analyses, target and 
action plans and handling of deviations. This means that 
we work with continuous improvements to adapt our 
operations to the requirements, needs and expectations 
of our stakeholders. Sustainability-related policies are 
established and, together with our values, contribute to 
the clarity of how we within the group and together with 
our customers and suppliers contribute to sustainable 
development. 

Strategic sustainability work  

We have divided our strategic sustainability work into 
three main focus areas:  

• Sustainable growth (Environment)  

To reduce our direct and indirect environmental 
impact.  

• Attractive employer (Social)  

To be an attractive employer with healthy 
workplaces and where employees feel comfortable 
and given good opportunities to develop.  

• Good business ethics (Financial) To conduct our 
business on ethical grounds both within the group 
and in our contacts with external parties.  

 

Sustainable growth  

Our business areas include blasting, machine contracting 
and transport, all of which can have a significant 
environmental impact. The environmental impact 
primarily relates to climate emissions as a result of the 
combustion of fossil fuels but also the impact on the 
environment in the form of noise and dust. In addition, 
machines and vehicles in production run the risk of 
leakage and spills that affect soil and nearby 
watercourses. 

The group holds the necessary permits where operations 
requiring a permit are carried out and apply 
continuously for blasting and cracking permits for works 
where these permits are applicable. In order to reduce 
our environmental impact, we continuously work with 
environmental improvements in our operations. To 
guide us in our work within sustainability and the 
environment, an operating policy and an environmental 
policy have been adopted within the group. 

Furthermore, based on our significant environmental 
aspects, we have set objectives in the following areas: 

 
Transport & vehicles  

Bellman Group will reduce the environmental impact of 
the machinery and vehicle fleet as well as machine 
transports by streamlining and improving the logistics 
planning and by actively working to replace machines 
and the fleet of vehicles to more modern and fuel-
efficient models. Bellman Group also participates in 
several projects concerning the development of 
electrified autonomous machines and vehicles together 
with our machine suppliers. Diesel is an important input 
for Bellman Group. Improved logistics and fuel economy, 
as well as an increased element of renewable fuels 
contribute to both a reduced environmental impact and 
a higher cost efficiency.  

In several of our projects, the company uses 100 % HVO 
fuel and in 2018 renewable fuels drove about 25 % of 
our companies’ common machinery parks. One goal is to 
increase the share of renewable fuels by 10 percentage 
points in 2019.  

A mapping of the group's total fuel consumption will be 
made in 2019 and reported in next year's sustainability 
report.  

 

Energy  

During 2018, Bellman Group has started an energy 
survey that is expected to be completed in 2019. The 
result will be used as a basis for setting concrete goals 
and an action plan to reduce internal energy 
consumption will be developed. 

 

Emissions to soil, water & air 

Machines and vehicles in production always run the risk 
of getting hose breaks or other leaks to nearby land and 
watercourses. The group wishes to prevent and 
minimise the impact the business has on land, water and 
air as much as possible. All employees and hired staff 
exercise daily supervision of their respective units and by 
this Bellman Group wants to prevent any deficiencies by 
identifying them in time. For the event that leakage 
nevertheless occurs, the group companies are expected 
to have well-functioning routines and instructions for 
how to act and report the event. All units are also 
equipped with decontamination equipment. 

We have not had any environmental violations that led 
to fines or sanctions in 2018. However, less leakage has 
occurred where sanitation has been necessary and 
contaminated material has been submitted to approved 
landfill. 

 

Attractive employer 

Attracting competent staff and retaining key personnel is 
crucial for Bellman Group's success. At present, there is a 
shortage of certain occupational groups, such as trained 
machine operators and explosives, which is why we take 
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risks related to the supply of skills very seriously. 
Bellman Group manages the risk of not being able to 
recruit qualified labour the by striving for a good working 
environment and internal skills development, as well as 
taking responsibility for the training of new employees 
with potential. 

Our operations include work with large machines and 
vehicles and with blasting. If handling is not done in 
accordance with the applicable safety regulations, the 
work can lead to personal injury. The physical safety of 
personnel is high priority and the Bellman Group has a 
zero vision when it comes to accidents. Risks, incidents 
and accidents are reported and investigated so that 
measures can be taken as quickly as possible. Within the 
group, measures are continuously taken to create and 
maintain safe workplaces, train employees in safety, 
change attitudes and thereby contribute to a healthy 
organisation and a safe working environment. 

We also see challenges in recruiting more female 
employees in order to create a more balanced gender 
distribution within the company. We are convinced that 
an inclusive workplace culture characterised by diversity 
benefits everyone. Discrimination and harassment are 
not allowed in any form and all employees must be given 
equal opportunity to develop regardless of gender, age, 
ethnic origin, religion, political views, sexual orientation, 
disability or other distinctive qualities.  

For long-term success, we need to be perceived as an 
attractive employer where our employees feel good and 
have opportunities to develop. Long sick leave is neither 
good for our employees, for society or for us as a 
company. A good corporate culture makes for well-
being, good relationships, low staff turnover and low sick 
leave. Our business policy guides us in the right direction 
and in addition, the group has adopted a gender equality 
policy. Some of the areas we work actively with to be 
perceived as an attractive employer are:  

 

Employee development  

Bellman Group collaborates with schools, employment 
services and competitors to secure jointly future needs 
for competent employees. We also encourage 
employees who want further education or undergo 
broadening training within our various machine types. In 
2018, 17 % of the employees conducted some form of 
education, apprenticeship or broadening education. 

 

Health and safety  

In 2018, a self-designed application was implemented 
with the purpose of simplifying for employees and hired 
staff to report deviations or disturbing moments in the 
daily work. The simplified reporting aims to increase 
management's understanding and awareness of what is 
happening, thereby increasing the possibilities of taking 
action in time. In 2018, a total of three accidents were 
reported which were classified as serious. In addition to 
offering occupational health care and healthcare 
benefits for employees in the group, the majority of 
employees are also offered healthcare insurance where 
they, if necessary, are given quick access to specialist 
care. The purpose is to provide efficient and good care 

so that employees are well looked after and that any sick 
leave is minimised. According to a survey that has been 
carried out, the healthcare insurance is a much 
appreciated salary benefit among the employees. In 
2019, the possibilities for making health insurance a 
standardised benefit for all employees within the group 
are evaluated.  

 

Diversity and inclusion  

Attracting women to our industry, which is strongly 
dominated by men, is something we work actively with. 
In 2018, the proportion of women in the group was 11 % 
of the total workforce. Our goal is to increase the 
proportion of female employees in 2019. No cases of 
discrimination have come to the management's 
knowledge in 2018. 

 

Sound business ethics 

The group's success is based on our employees' ability to 
build strong and long-term relationships with customers 
and suppliers. The construction and civil engineering 
sector is particularly vulnerable to bribery and 
corruption both in Sweden and internationally. 

Therefore, it is of the utmost importance that all the 
group's employees have a clear idea of what our 
common goals are and what ethical principles our 
business is based on. This applies both to work within 
the group and to contacts with external parties. The 
group condemns all forms of corruption and fraud and 
calls for openness, integrity and honesty throughout our 
operations. In order to clearly clarify our ethical 
positions, a Code of Conduct has been established. The 
Code of Conduct sets requirements on how employees 
are expected to act in business relations and applies to 
all employees without exception. 

In order for the group to learn about and be able to 
rectify conditions and events that violate our Code of 
Conduct and our policies, or against applicable laws and 
regulations, all employees, partners and suppliers are 
encouraged to notify suspicious departures directly to 
our group management. In order to strengthen routines 
and processes for capturing suspicious events, Bellman 
Group intends to introduce a Whistle-blower policy in 
2019 and a reporting routine which gives employees the 
right and opportunity to report suspected deviations 
without any repercussions. No cases of corruption have 
come to the management's knowledge in 2018.  

We value the maintenance of human rights and healthy 
working conditions high throughout the group. However, 
given our geographical location and the market in which 
we operate, we see few direct risks in these areas linked 
to our own operations. The operations in general and 
the haulage operations in particular, however, are highly 
dependent on subcontractors and suppliers that we do 
not currently have full transparency or control over.  

To strengthen cooperation and transparency between 
Bellman Group and our subcontractors, Bellman Group 
will introduce a code of conduct in 2019 that applies to 
all subcontractors, where compliance is a prerequisite 
for collaboration with Bellman Group. 
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Auditor’s report on the statutory sustainability report 

To the general meeting of the shareholders in Bellman Group AB (publ), corporate identity number 559108-3729 

Engagement and responsibility 

It is the board of directors who is responsible for the statutory sustainability report for the year 2018 on pages 10-

11 and that it has been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act.  

The scope of the audit 

Our examination has been conducted in accordance with FAR’s auditing standard RevR 12 The auditor’s opinion 

regarding the statutory sustainability report. This means that my examination of the statutory sustainability 

report is substantially different and less in scope than an auit conducted in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing and generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. I believe that the examination has 

provided me with sufficient basis for my opinion.  

Opinion 

A statutory sustainability report has been prepared.  

Stockholm 23 April 2019 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AB 
 
 
Nicklas Kullberg 
Authorised public accountant 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 
The Board of Directors and the President of Bellman 
Group AB (publ), corporate identity number 559108-
3729, hereby submit the annual report and consolidated 
financial statements for the financial year 1 January 2018 
to 31 December 2018. Data in parentheses refer to the 
previous year. All amounts are stated in millions of SEK 
(MSEK) unless otherwise stated. Bellman Group's 
corporate bonds are listed on Nasdaq Stockholm. 
 
On 1 July 2017, the businesses MST (common control 
acquisition) and Bellmans (business combination 
according to IFRS 3) were acquired. Since Bellman Group 
AB and MST were under the common control of Verdane 
Capital before and after the acquisition on 1 July 2017, 
IFRS 3 is not applicable. Bellman Group's accounting 
policy for common control business combinations is to 
apply a method in which historical values are used. When 
applying this method, Bellman Group AB also assumes a 
perspective as a controlling party. MST's assets and 
liabilities are therefore consolidated into Bellman Group 
AB's financial statements using reported values from the 
acquisition made by Verdane Capital on January 1, 2016. 
This requires that the remaining goodwill arising from the 
original acquisition of MST by Verdane Capital be 
recognised as at 1 January 2016. No additional goodwill 
to be recognised as at 1 July 2017 will arise. The income 
statement for 2017 refers to MST for the period January 
– December 2017, Bellman Group AB for the period April 
– December 2017 and Bellmans for the period July – 
December 2017. 
 

Information about the business  
Bellman Group’s business concept is blasting, excavation 
and transport with focus on quality, efficiency and safety 
in complex projects and environments for our customers 
in the construction sector. By gathering relevant 
expertise in the corporate group, a customer offering is 
created that makes it easy for the customer to 
streamline their business. Bellman Group's growth will 
be achieved through the acquisition of established and 
profitable companies that complement and act within 
the framework of the Bellman Group's offering where 
revenue synergies, rather than cost synergies, are a 
criterion, and key customers do not perceive the group 
to be competing. Growth will also come through organic 
growth in existing subsidiaries. Bellman Group strives for 
a low project risk and builds the group with a focus on 
creating value for shareholders. Bellman Group AB (publ) 
with its subsidiaries is mentioned below as the group. 

 
Bellmans Åkeri & Entreprenad AB and 
Grundab Entreprenader i Stockholm AB 
(hereinafter”Bellmans”) 
Bellmans, which was acquired on 1 July 2017, is a 
transport company founded in 1972 and has 73 
employees. The business focus is on transport and 
machine services, excavation, as well as sales and mass 
handling. The business is geographically concentrated to 
the Greater Stockholm region and the surrounding area. 

Bellman's business includes approximately 550 
vehicles/machines, of which approximately 500 are 
vehicles owned by subcontractors. Bellmans head office 
of is Saltsjö-Boo, Stockholm. 
 

Modern Sprängteknik i Norden AB 
(hereinafter ”MST”) 
MST with subsidiaries Uppländska Bergkrossnings AB, 
Uppländska Bergborrnings AB and Sprängarbeten i 
Trönödal AB, which was acquired on 1 January 2016, was 
founded in 1972 and has 93 employees. The business 
focus is on rock blasting, rock drilling, wire sawing and 
rock cracking. The operations are concentrated 
geographically to the Greater Stockholm region with the 
surrounding area, southwestern and western Sweden 
and to southern Norrland. The number of own vehicles/ 
machines is approximately 100. The head office for MST 
is Norrtälje. 
 

VSM Entreprenad AB (hereinafter ”VSM”) 
VSM Entreprenad AB with its subsidiaries VSM AS, 
Munthers Specialtransporter AB and VSM Rental AB, 
which was acquired on 17 July 2018, was founded in 
1972 and has 181 employees. VSM is a contracting 
machine company with operations that mainly include 
rock and gravel handling at stationary and mobile 
crushing plants, contracts within road, tunnel, 
construction and exploitation, as well as leasing of 
machines and drivers. The business is geographically 
concentrated to the Greater Stockholm region and the 
surrounding area. The number of own vehicles/ 
machines is approximately 170. The head office for VSM 
is Kallhäll, Stockholm. 
 

Samgräv Holding AB (hereinafter ”Samgräv”) 
Samgräv Holding AB with the subsidiaries Samkross i 
Härryda AB, Samgräv Maskinförmedling AB, Samgräv 
Recycling AB and Samkross i Uddevalla AB was acquired 
on 31 January 2019. The acquisition was financed 
through a new issue and issue of new bonds. The 
company has 18 employees and their head office is in 
Kungälv. 
 

Bellman Group AB (publ)  
Bellman Group AB is the group's parent company and 
was formed on 10 April 2017 with its registered office in 
Solna, Stockholm. The parent company contains group 
management and certain central functions. The parent 
company owns 100 % of the shares in Bellmans Åkeri & 
Entreprenad AB, Grundab Entreprenader in Stockholm 
AB, Modern Sprängteknik i Norden AB and VSM 
Entreprenad AB. 
 

Significant events during the period 
On 11 May 2018, Bellman Group listed corporate bonds 
of SEK 220 million (within a framework amount of SEK 
400 million) at Nasdaq Stockholm. The bonds were 
previously listed on First North. Due to the list change, 
Bellman Group has prepared a prospectus that has been 



ANNUAL REPORT 2018 

 

14 
 

approved by the Swedish Financial Supervisory 
Authority. The prospectus is available on the company's 
website www.bellmangroup.se. 
 
On 29 June, the company issued additional bonds of SEK 
280 million related to the acquisition of VSM (the frame 
amount was increased to SEK 600 million). The new 
bonds were listed on Nasdaq Stockholm on 13 July 2018. 
 
On 17 July 2018, Bellman Group acquired all shares in 
VSM Entreprenad AB including subsidiaries. VSM is a 
contracting machine company with operations that 
mainly include rock and gravel handling at stationary and 
mobile crushing plants, excavations within road, tunnel, 
construction and exploitation as well as leasing of 
machines and drivers. Through the acquisition, Bellman 
Group strengthens its position in the machine contract 
industry in Sweden. The acquisition was financed 
through newly issued shares and the issuance of new 
bonds. For further information, see note K14 Business 
combinations. 
 
At an Extraordinary General Meeting on 10 December 
2018, Bellman Group AB decided to elect a new board of 
directors. The Extraordinary General Meeting elected 
Björn Andersson as new chairman and Christina Ragsten 
and Ingalill Östman as directors. Robin Karlsson's 
assignment as director ceased. 
 
On 13 December 2018, Bellman Group entered into an 
agreement to acquire the machine brokerage company 
Samgräv Holding AB ("Samgräv"). The acquisition was 
conditional on the Bellman Group receiving the required 
financing and that the Swedish Competition Authority 
submitted its approval to the transaction. On 31 January  
2019, the group acquired all shares in Samgräv. The 
acquisition was financed through newly issued shares 
and the issuance of new bonds. 
 

Net sales and result 
Net sales for the full year in the group amounted to 
SEK 1,090.6 million (542.6), an increase of SEK 548.0 
million. Bellman's sales amounted to MSEK 641.1 
(309.1), mainly as a result of Bellman's membership of 
the group for 12 months 2018, but only during the 
period July to December 2017. Bellman's sales in 2018 
increased organically by 6.8 % compared to 12 months 
pro forma 2017 (SEK 600.3 million) because of high 
capacity utilisation which in turn was due to a strong 
market demand. MST's sales amounted to SEK 230.4 
million (237.9), a decrease of 3.2 %, mainly due to fewer 
accepted low-margin projects. VSM's sales amounted to 
SEK 248.0 million (0.0), as a result of VSM being included 
in the group for the period July to December 2018, but 
not during the corresponding period last year (the 
acquisition of VSM took place in July 2018). 
 
EBITDA before items affecting comparability amounted 
to SEK 104.6 million (39.2). Bellman's EBITDA before 
items affecting comparability amounted to SEK 37.7 
million (15.1), mainly as a result of Bellmans being 
included in the group for 12 months 2018, but only 
during the period July to December 2017. Bellman's 

EBITDA before items affecting comparability 2018 
decreased by 1.3 % compared to 12 months pro forma in 
2017 (MSEK 38.2), where increased sales were mainly 
offset by increased fuel costs. MST's EBITDA before 
items affecting comparability amounted to SEK 31.5 M 
(24.9), an increase of 26.5 % as a result of an improved 
gross profit. The reason for the improved gross profit 
was a more favourable project mix and that during the 
year MST replaced some subcontractors with their own 
units and staff. VSM's EBITDA before items affecting 
comparability amounted to SEK 35.8 M (0.0), as a result 
of VSM being included in the group for the period July to 
December 2018, but not during the corresponding 
period last year (the acquisition of VSM took place in July 
2018). 
 
Operating profit amounted to SEK 51.3 million (14.6) and 
includes depreciation and amortisation of SEK 41.8 
million (17.3) and items affecting comparability of SEK 
11.5 million (7.3). Bellman's operating profit amounted 
to SEK 25.7 million (9.5), mainly due to Bellmans being 
included in the group for 12 months 2018, but only 
during the period July to December 2017. MST's 
operating profit amounted to SEK 18.5 million (13.2), an 
increase of 40.0 %, mainly as a result of improved gross 
profit. VSM's operating profit amounted to SEK 19.9 
million (0.0), as a result of VSM being included in the 
group for the period July to December 2018 but not 
during the corresponding period last year. 
 
The group's depreciation and amortisation affected the 
net profit for the year by SEK 41.8 million (17.3). 
Goodwill is not amortised, instead the value of the 
assets are tested annually. The group's items affecting 
comparability amounted to SEK 11.5 million (7.3) and 
included mainly acquisition costs, costs related to IFRS 
conversion and internal restructuring with the aim of 
simplifying the group's legal structure, as well as costs 
related to listing the group's corporate bonds on Nasdaq 
Stockholm (the bonds were previously listed on First 
North). 
 
Net financial items amounted to SEK -21.9 million 
(-8.1), mainly attributable to interest on the bond loan 
and earnings from associated companies. The increase in 
financial expenses was primarily a result of higher 
interest expenses due to increased debt to finance 
acquisitions. Profit for the year amounted to SEK 25.1 
million (3.8) and was affected by income taxes of SEK 
-4.3 million (-2.7). 
 

Cash flow and investments 
Cash flow from operating activities in the group 
amounted to SEK 56.5 million (22.2). Cash flow from 
investing activities amounted to SEK -238.1 million  
(-142.8), which consisted of investments relating to 
acquisitions of group companies reduced for acquired 
cash and cash equivalents of SEK -207.2 million (-108.5) 
and net investments in property, plant and equipment of 
SEK -30.9 million (-34.3). Cash flow from financing 
activities amounted to SEK 188.5 million (206.2), mainly 
related to the raising of bond loans, partly offset by 
amortisation of other external loans. Cash flow for the 
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period amounted to SEK 6.8 million (85.6). 
 

Personnel 
At the end of the financial year, the group had 349 (168) 
employees. Of these, 73 (74) employees in Bellmans, 93 
(92) employees in MST, 181 (0) employees in VSM and 0 
(0) employees in the parent company. The increase is 
mainly due to the acquisition of VSM. 
 

Financial position and financing 
The group's interest-bearing net debt as of 31 December 
2018 amounted to SEK 410.6 million (136.2), and 
included corporate bonds of SEK 500.0 million (220.0), 
lease liabilities of SEK 5.1 million (4.3) reduced for cash 
and cash equivalents by SEK 94.5 million (88.2). Interest-
bearing net debt in relation to EBITDA before items 
affecting comparability was 2.8 (2.2), including 12-month 
pro forma EBITDA related to VSM. Total net debt 
including non-interest-bearing liabilities of SEK 37.7 
million was SEK 448.4 million (194.7). The group's cash 
and cash equivalents at the end of the period amounted 
to SEK 94.5 million (88.2). Including an unutilised 
overdraft facility, available cash and cash equivalents 
amounted to SEK 132.5 million (103.2). 
The parent company has issued corporate bonds that are 
listed on Nasdaq Stockholm. This instrument is listed as 
BELLMAN GROUP AB 01 with 500 units, with a total 
outstanding nominal amount of SEK 500.0 million and 
has a nominal value of SEK 1.0 million per unit. The bond 
rate is variable interest three months STIBOR plus 6.50 
per cent, which is paid quarterly in arrears. The bond 
matures in June 2022. The terms of the bond include an 
option that entitles the holder to early repayment of the 
loan. This option is reported as a derivative of SEK 1.2 
million and is classified as a financial asset that is valued 
at fair value through profit or loss. The bond terms 
include a quarterly maintenance covenant which is 
considered fulfilled if interest-bearing net debt in 
relation to EBITDA is less than 4.25. The terms of the 
corporate bond loan are available on Bellman Group 
AB's (publ) website, www.bellmangroup.se. 
 

Significant risks and uncertainties 
Bellman Group is exposed to several global and group-
specific risks that may affect operations and earnings 
and the group's financial position. The group operates in 
the construction and infrastructure sectors, which are 
affected by macroeconomic factors. An economic 
recession and, in particular, a weak development of the 
construction industry and a decline in the infrastructure 
sector could lead to a decline in demand for services 
provided by the group. Since the group mainly operates 
in the Greater Stockholm region and the surrounding 
area, the group is dependent on the development in the 
markets for construction and infrastructure operations 
in the specific geographical area. The foreseeable risks 
are identified and monitored centrally on the basis of 
established guidelines. The risk management in the 
group aims to position the group in order to be able to 
react actively to possible risk situations. Below is a list of 
risks that the group considers important: 
 
 

Operational risks 
Market: Demand for Bellman Group's services is largely 

controlled by the construction market and the general 

economy. The risk of declining economic activity in one 

or more markets is balanced by the fact that Bellman 

Group has a good spread of its customers in different 

markets (infrastructure, etc.). Bellman Group works with 

as accurate forecasting as possible in order to be able to 

adapt and adjust the group's capacity to the market's 

real demand, to drive the business profitably and remain 

competitive. 

Competition: Bellman Group's operations are conducted 
in competitive industries. Bellman Group's customer 
relations are characterised by a long-term perspective, in 
which adaptation to customer needs is in focus. The 
group also focuses on all costs in the production chain 
and strives to be the most cost-effective partner for its 
customers who operate in a price-pressured market. 

Fuel Prices: Diesel is an important item for Bellman 
Group and price volatility on diesel is a risk factor. Access 
and demand control prices on the world market, and 
possible price increases also hit most of the Bellman 
Group's competitors.  

Production capacity: Lack of subcontractors related to 
excavation and transport services is a risk factor. By 
focusing on creating a safe workplace, a good work 
environment and internal training, the Bellman Group 
attracts competent staff.  

Acquisitions and integration: Integration of newly 
acquired companies entails a strain on existing 
businesses. 

Financial risks 
Refinancing risk: Risk that the group will have difficulties 
in fulfilling its obligations related to financial liabilities. 
The group strives to have access to both short- and long-
term loan facilities at any given time. This is achieved 
through advance planning, regular liquidity forecasts and 
good relations with creditors. 
 
Credit risk: Risk that the group's counterparties cannot 
fulfil their financial commitments to the group, primarily 
related to accounts receivable in the normal business 
operations. A review and evaluation of larger customer 
accounts is done monthly. 
 
Interest rate risk: Existing substantial external debt in 
Bellman Group's balance sheet is corporate bonds listed 
on Nasdaq Stockholm. The maturity of the bond extends 
to June 19, 2022 and entails an annual STIBOR three 
month interest plus 6.50 per cent. 
 
Legal risks 
Legislation: Bellman Group's operations mean that the 
group is subject to laws, regulations, rules, agreements 
and guidelines. Bellman Group continuously monitors 
the rules and regulations that exist in each market and 
works to adapt the services to identified future changes. 
 
Disputes: Legal disputes per se entail risks for both the 



ANNUAL REPORT 2018 

 

16 
 

loss of the cases and the costs of the proxy and, in the 
case of arbitration, the arbitration panel. 
 
Sustainability-related risks 
Environment: There is a risk that one of Bellman Group's 
operations will cause environmental impact on air, soil 
and water. The group holds the necessary permits where 
operations requiring a permit are conducted. Bellmans 
holds a permit for the transport of hazardous waste. 
MST applies continuously for blasting and crushing 
permits for works where these permits are applicable. 
Operations affect the environment through emissions to 
air and water and noise.  

Safety: Low safety in vehicles/machines and in 
workplaces can lead to personal injury. The physical 
safety of personnel is a high priority and continuous 
work is done to create and maintain safe workplaces, 
train employees in safety and change attitudes.  

Employees: Attracting competent staff and retaining key 
personnel is crucial to Bellman Group's success. The risk 
of not being able to recruit qualified labor manages the 
Bellman Group by striving for a good working 
environment and internal skills development, as well as 
taking responsibility for the training of new employees 
with potential. 

Expected future development 
Bellman Group is continuously working to develop and 
customise its operations within the various segments. 
This work is done both through industry organisations 
and in connection with customers. The future 
development of the group subsidiaries is deemed good. 
The assessment is supported by the fact that the group is 
active in a well-structured market, that the customers 
demand the group’s service offering and that the 
services are of high utility. Long-term trends, such as 
urbanisation, also work to the group's advantage. 
Urbanisation promotes the market in which the group's 
largest customers are active, thereby increasing demand 
for the group's services. 
 

Share capital 
At the beginning of the fiscal year, the registered share 
capital amounted to SEK 1,014,174 divided between 
1,014,174 shares at a quota value of SEK 1. During 2018, 
930,468 shares were issued in connection with the 
acquisition of VSM. At the end of the financial year, the 
registered share capital amounted to SEK 1,944,642, 
divided into 1,944,642 shares. 
 

Shareholders 
At the end of 2018, the number of shareholders was 11 
(7). Bellman Group's largest owner is Verdane Holding 26 
AB, which accounts for 38.4 % of the capital and votes. 
 

Significant events after the reporting period  
On 31 January 2019, the group acquired all shares in 
Samgräv Holding AB ("Samgräv") including subsidiaries. 
Samgräv is a company focused on mediation and letting 
of e.g. construction machinery, trucks, crane trucks, 
tractors, rollers, machine operators and construction 

workers. Samgräv operates in West Sweden, and the 
activities include own inert landfills, recycling facilities 
and quarries, as well as transport and machine 
mediation. The combination of own facilities and 
transport and machine mediation means an important 
competitive advantage for creating cost-effective and 
environmentally friendly transport for customers. The 
acquisition was financed through newly issued shares 
and the issuance of new bonds. For further information, 
see note K32 Events occurring after the reporting period. 
 

The parent company 

Bellman Group AB was formed in April 2017. Net sales 
during the year amounted to SEK 10.3 million (4.8). Sales 
are 100 per cent intra-group. Operating profit amounted 
to SEK -8.7 million (-3.4) and profit after financial 
expenses was SEK -30.0 million (-10.8). Profit for the year 
was SEK 10.3 million (-8.4), mainly related to group 
contributions received. Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the financial year amounted to SEK 79.2 million 
(38.6), equity to SEK 290.0 million (134.7) and the 
equity/assets ratio to 31.8 percent (32.8). The parent 
company had 0 (0) employees in 2018. The total number 
of ordinary shares on 31 December 2018 was 1,944,642. 
The principal shareholder is Verdane Holding 26 AB, 
which owns 38.4 %. The parent share has one vote and 
entitles to dividend. 

 

Corporate governance and sustainability 
report 
In accordance with the Annual Accounts Act 6 ch. § 8 
and § 11, Bellman Group has chosen to prepare the 
corporate governance report and the sustainability 
report as reports separate from the directors’ report. 
The corporate governance report can be found on pages 
7-8 and the sustainability report on pages 10-11. 
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Proposed appropriation of profits 

The following profits are at the disposal of the Annual General Meeting: 
 

Amounts in SEK   
Share premium  216,104,791 

Retained earnings  61,658,950 

Profit for the period  10,214,163 

Total   287,977,904 

 
 
 

The Board of Directors proposes that the profits brought forward be appropriated as follows: 
 

To be carried forward  287,977,904 

Total   287,977,904 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT AND STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

  Note -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Net sales K4 1,090.6 542.6 

Other operating income K4, K6 7.9 2.7 

Total income   1,098.5 545.3 

    

Operating expenses    

Raw materials and consumables K18 -799.9 -404.7 

Other external expenses K9, K10 -41.0 -32.6 

Staff costs K8 -164.4 -75.5 
Depreciation/ amortisation and impairment of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets K15, K16 -41.8 -17.3 

Other operating expenses K7 - -0.6 

Total operating expenses  -1,047.2 -530.7 

Operating profit   51.3 14.6 

    

Finance income K11 5.2 1.1 

Finance expense K11 -27.0 -9.2 

Net financial expense  -21.9 -8.1 

Profit after net financial expense   29.4 6.5 

    

Profit before tax  29.4 6.5 

Income tax expense K12 -4.3 -2.7 

Net profit for the period   25.1 3.8 

    

Profit is attributable to:    

- Owners of Bellman Group AB  24.6 3.8 

- Non-controlling interests  0.5 - 

    

Earnings per share before and after dilution (SEK) K13 18.3 5,9 

Average number of shares   1,344.2 1,002.7 

    

Profit for the period  25.1 3.8 
Other comprehensive income 
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss    

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations   -0.3 - 

Total comprehensive income for the period   24.8 3.8 

    

Total comprehensive income for the period is attributable to:    

- Owners of Bellman Group AB  24.3 3.8 

- Non-controlling interests  0.5 - 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
 

MSEK       

     

  Note 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

ASSETS     

Non-current assets     

Intangible assets K15    

Concessions, patents, licences, trademarks and similar rights  3.9 3.2 

Goodwill  330.2 143.9 

Total intangible assets   334.0 147.1 

    

Property, plant and equipment K16   
Plant and machinery  316.5 114.7 

Equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings  4.8 2.0 

Total property, plant and equipment   321.2 116.7 

    

Non-current financial assets K5   
Investments in associates  13.2 - 

Derivative financial instruments K17 1.2 1.0 

Other non-current financial assets  0.3 - 

Total non-current financial assets   14.7 1.0 

    

Total non-current assets   670,0 264.8 

    

Current assets     
Inventories    
Raw materials and consumables K18 5.0 7.6 

Total inventories   5.0 7.6 

    

Current receivables    
Trade receivables K5, K17 215.9 114.2 

Current tax receivables  7.9 1.1 

Other current receivables K19 10.5 7.4 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income K20 32.0 12.0 

Total current receivables   266.3 134.7 

    

Cash and cash equivalents K21 94.5 88.2 

Total current assets   365.8 230.5 

    

TOTAL ASSETS  1,035.7 495.3 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

 

MSEK    

    

 Note 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     

Equity K22    

Share capital  1.9 1.0 

Other contributed capital  191.5 47.4 

Reserves  -0.3 - 

Retained earnings (including net profit/loss for the period)  52.5 27.9 

Total equity attributable to parent company shareholders   245.6 76.3 

Non-controlling interests  5.6 - 

Total equity  251.2 76.3 

    

Non-current liabilities    
Deferred tax liabilities K24 41.9 20.7 

Bonds K5, K17, K23, K27 484.1 212.8 

Other liabilities to credit institutions K5, K17, K23, K27 3.6 3.2 

Other non-current liabilities K23, K27 18.2 39.0 

Total non-current liabilities   547.9 275.7 

    

Current liabilities    
Liabilities to credit institutions K5, K17, K23, K27 1.5 1.1 

Trade payables K5, K17, K23 134.5 83.4 

Current tax liabilities  9.7 4.8 

Other current liabilities K25 31.9 24.4 

Accrued expenses and deferred income K26 58.9 29.6 

Total current liabilities    236.6 143.3 

    

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  1,035.7 495.3 

 
See note K27 Assets pledged as security for details regarding the group’s pledged assets.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ANNUAL REPORT 2018 

 

21 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

MSEK Attributable to shareholders of Bellman Group AB 

  
  

 

Share 
capital 

Other 
contri-
buted 
equity Reserves 

Retained 
earnings 
(incl net 

profit/loss 
for the 
period) Total 

Non-con-
trolling 

interests 
Total 

equity 

Balance at 1 January 2017*) - 0.2 - 24.1 24.3 - 24.3 

Profit for the period - - - 3.8 3.8 - 3.8 

Other comprehensive income - - - - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the period - - - 3.8 3.8 - 3.8 

New share issue 1.0 31.4 - - 32.4 - 32.4 

Shareholder’s contribution - 15.8 - - 15.8 - 15.8 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners 1.0 47.2 - - 48.2 - 48.2 

Balance at 31 December 2017 1.0 47.4 - 27.9 76.3 - 76.3 

Profit for the period - - - 24.6 24.6 0.5 25.1 

Other comprehensive income - - -0.3 - -0.3 - -0.3 

Total comprehensive income for the period - - -0.3 24.6 24.3 0.5 24.8 

New share issue **) 0.9 144.1 - - 145.0 - 145.0 

Acquisition of non-controlling interest - - - - - 5.1 5.1 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners 0.9 144.1 - - 145.0 5.1 150.1 

Balance at 31 December 2018 1.9 191.5 -0.3 52.5 245.6 5.6 251.2 

 
*) As Bellman Group AB and MST were under the common control of Verdane Capital before and after the acquisition on 1 July 2017, IFRS 3 is 
not applicable. Bellman Group's accounting policy for business transactions under common control is to apply a method in which historical 
values are used. When applying this method, Bellman Group AB also assumes a perspective as the controlling entity. MST's assets and liabilities 
are therefore consolidated into Bellman Group AB's financial statements using carrying amounts from the acquisition made by Verdane Capital 
on January 1, 2016. This requires the remaining goodwill arising from the original acquisition of MST by Verdane Capital be recognised on 1 
January 2016. No additional goodwill to be recognised on 1 July 2017 will arise. 
**) Share capital of SEK 930,468 was registered on 24 August 2018. Total equity increased by MSEK 145, of which MSEK 45 constitutes a cash 
issue and MSEK 100 relates to part of the purchase price in business combinations (see note K14). 
 

See note K22 Equity for more details. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

MSEK      

 
 1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

 Note - 31 Dec 2018 - 31 Dec 2017 

Operating activities      

Operating income  51.3 14.6 

Adjustment for non-cash items  
  

Depreciation and amortisation K30 41.8 17.3 

Other items not affecting cash flow K30 2.3 -2.2 
  

  
Interest received  0.1 - 

Interest paid  -25.1 -7.7 

Income taxes paid  -10.9 -1.5 

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital  59.6 20.5 

Increase/decrease in inventories  2.6 -2.5 

Increase/decrease in current receivables  -22.3 -7.1 

Increase/decrease in current liabilities  16.6 11.3 

Total changes in working capital  -3.1 1.7 

    

Cash flow from operating activities  56.5 22.2 

 
 

  
Investing activities  

  
Payment for acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired  K14 -207.2 -108.5 

Investments in property, plant and equipment K16 -43.3 -38.8 

Sale of property, plant and equipment  12.4 4.5 

Cash flow from investing activities  -238.1 -142.8 

 
 

  
Financing activities  

  
Issue of shares  45.0 3.1 

Shareholder contributions received  - 13.9 

Borrowings K31 269.8 212.0 

Repayment of borrowings K31 -126.3 -22.8 

Cash flow from financing activities  188.5 206.2 

    

Cash flow for the period  6.8 85.6 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  88.2 2.6 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   -0.5 - 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   94.5 88.2 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Note K1 General information 
Bellman Group AB (publ), corporate identity number 559108-3729, is the parent company of the Bellman Group with registered 
office in Stockholm, Sweden. The address of the head office is Box 84, 132 23 Saltsjö-Boo. 
 
Unless otherwise stated, all amounts are reported in million Swedish krona (MSEK). Information in brackets refers to the 
previous year. 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Note K2 Summary of significant accounting policies 
The most significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.  
 

Note K2.1 Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements of Bellman Group AB (publ), have been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts 
Act, RFR 1 “Additional rules for Group Accounting,” related interpretations issued by the Swedish Financial Reporting Board 
(Rådet för Finansiell Rapportering) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations of the IFRS 
interpretations committee (IFRS IC) as adopted by the EU.  
 
As Bellman Group AB and MST under the common control of Verdane Capital before and after Bellman Group AB’s acquisition 
of MST on 1 July 2017, the group is considered to have been formed on 1 January 2016. Bellman Group's accounting policy for 
business combinations under common control is to apply a method in which historical values are used. In other respects, the 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial assets 
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. 
 
Note K2.1.1 New or amended standards adopted by the group  
The Group has applied the following standards for the first time for their financial year commencing 1 January 2018:  
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments deals with the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and liabilities. It 
replaces those parts of IAS 39 which relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 retains a mixed 
approach to measurement but simplifies the approach in some respects. There are three measurement categories for financial 
assets: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income and fair value through profit or loss. How an instrument 
should be classified depends on the company’s business model and the characteristics of the instrument. Investments in equity 
instruments should be measured at fair value through profit or loss but there is also an option of measuring the instrument at fair 
value through other comprehensive income upon initial recognition. In this case no reclassification to profit or loss is made when 
the instrument is sold. For financial liabilities, the methods of classification and measurement are not changed except in the case 
where a liability is measured at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option. IFRS 9 also introduces a new model for 
calculating the provision for credit losses that is based on expected credit losses. The new model for calculating the provision for 
credit losses is based on expected credit losses, rather than incurred credit losses in accordance with IAS 39, which may result in 
earlier recognition of credit losses. The model is applicable for financial assets at amortised cost, debt instruments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, contract assets in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, lease 
receivables, loans and certain financial guarantees. For financial assets with no significant financing component, such as normal 
trade and lease receivables, there exist simplified rules under which the company can recognise a provision covering the whole 
term of the receivable directly and therefore does not need to identify when a significant deterioration of creditworthiness has 
occurred. The application of IFRS 9 did not have a significant impact on the recognised amounts, since the application of IFRS 9 
did not lead to any significant changes compared to the application of IAS 39. In accordance with the transitional provisions in 
IFRS 9, comparative figures have not been restated. 
 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers regulates the accounting treatment of revenue. The principles on which IFRS 15 
is based are intended to give users of financial statements more valuable information about a company’s revenue. Under the 
expanded disclosure requirements, information on the type of revenue, date of settlement, uncertainties associated with the 
recognition of revenue and cash flows attributable to the company’s customer contracts must be disclosed. Under IFRS 15, 
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revenue should be recognised when a customer receives control over the sold good or service and is able to use or obtains a 
benefit from the good or service. IFRS 15 replaces IAS 18 Revenue and IAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related SIC and 
IFRIC interpretations. The transition to IFRS 15 did not have any significant effect on the group's financial position and 
performance. The group has applied the full retrospective method, which means that the comparative figures have been 
restated. However, the transition to IFRS 15 did not have any impact either on equity or the financial statements in any other 
respects. 
 
Note K2.1.2 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted by the Group 
A number of new standards and interpretations will become effective for financial years beginning after 1 January 2019 and have 
not been applied in preparing these financial statements. The following is a preliminary assessment of effects of those standards 
which are deemed to be relevant for the group: 
 
IFRS 16 Leases. In January 2016, IASB published a new lease standard that will replace IAS 17 Leases and the related 

interpretations, IFRIC 4, SIC-15 and SIC-27. The standard requires that assets and liabilities attributable to all leases be 

recognised in the balance sheet, with a few exceptions. This accounting treatment is based on the view that the lessee has a 

right to use an asset during a specific period of time as well as an obligation to pay for this right. For the lessor, the accounting 

treatment will remain essentially unchanged. The standard is effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 

At transition, Bellman Group will apply IFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the new standard 

recognised on 1 January 2019. Comparatives for the 2018 financial year will not be restated. The right-of-use assets will be 

recognised at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments 

recognised in the balance sheet immediately before the date of initial application.  

The group will apply the recognition exemption to recognise short-term leases (with a lease term of 12 months of less) and 

leases where the underlying asset is of low value as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis. Non-lease components 

will be separated from lease components for leases of properties. For leases of machines and equipment, non-lease 

components will be included in the lease liability.  The group will not apply IFRS 16 to leases of intangible assets.  

Instead of operating lease expenses, the group will recognise depreciation and interest expenses in the consolidated income 
statement. Lease payments will affect cash flow from operating activities (e.g. paid interest, leases of low value and short term 
leases) and cash flow from financing activities (repayment of lease liability) in the cash flow statement. 
 
In applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the group will use the following practical expedients permitted by the standard: 

 the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics 

 the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 January 2019 as short-
term leases 

 the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application, and 

 relying on previous assessment in accordance with IAS 37 of whether a lease is onerous  

 
For leases that were classified as finance leases applying IAS 17, the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset and the lease 
liability shall at January 1, 2019 be the carrying amount of the lease asset and lease liability at December 31, 2018 measured 
applying IAS 17. 
 
The group lease contracts mainly consists of leases of office premises, machinery and equipment. As of 1 January 2019, the 
application of IFRS 16 is expected to result in an increase in rights of use assets of approximately SEK 20 million, an increase of 
SEK 8 million in current liabilities and an increase of SEK 12 million in non-current liabilities. 
 
In determining the balances above, the main judgements made are related to determining the lease term and to determining 

the incremental borrowing rate. Regarding the lease term, a majority of the lease contracts in the group include options either 

to extend or to terminate the contract. When determining the lease term, the group considers all facts and circumstances that 

creates an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option. When determining the 

incremental borrowing rate, the group considers which entity within the group entered into the lease contract, the duration of 

the lease and type of leased asset. The incremental borrowing rate reflects a secured borrowing for a similar right to use asset. 

As of 31 December 2018, the group's operating leases amounted to SEK 20.3 million. These are the undiscounted future lease 

payments during the non-cancellable leasing period, which are reported in accordance with the guidance in IAS 17. Since there 

are differences between IAS 17 and IFRS 16, the amount does not represent the leasing liability that will be reported in the 

balance sheet at the first application of IFRS 16. 



ANNUAL REPORT 2018 

 

25 
 

 
The future minimum lease payments will be discounted with the group's incremental borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019 
(weighted average incremental borrowing rate 1.8 %). 
 
No other IFRS or IFRIC interpretations which have not yet become effective are expected to have any material impact on the 
group. 
 

Note K2.2 Consolidation 
 
Not K2.2.1 Basis of preparation  
Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the group has control. The group controls an entity when the group is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to 
direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. 
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.  
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions between group companies are eliminated. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the 
group.  
 
Associates 
Associates are all entities over which the group has significant influence but not control. This is generally the case where the 
group holds between 20 % and 50 % of the voting rights.  
 
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.  
 
The cost of acquisition is adjusted thereafter to recognise the group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the 
investee. The group’s share of the investee’s profit or loss is included in the consolidated income statement. Dividends received 
from associates are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.  
 
When the group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the entity (including any other unsecured long-
term receivables, which in fact constitute part of the group's net investment in the associate), the group does not recognise 
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.  
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in these 
entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the 
group.  
 

Note K2.3 Segment reporting 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision 
maker. The group management of the Bellman Group, which consists of the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer and 
the CEOs of the subsidiaries, has been identified as being the chief operating decision maker and assesses the financial 
performance and position of the group, and makes strategic decisions. The group management has identified the reportable 
segments based on the information provided to them and which is used as a basis for allocating resources and evaluating results. 
 
The group management examines the operations based on the three operating segments MST, Bellmans, VSM and the segment 
Other. The group management primarily uses EBITDA to assess the performance of the operating segments.  
 

Note K2.4 Foreign currency translation 
Functional and presentation currency  
Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Swedish krona (SEK), which is the parent company’s functional and presentation currency.  
 
Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of 
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monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year-end exchange rates are generally recognised in profit or 
loss.  
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the statement of profit or loss, within finance costs. 
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the income statement on a net basis within other gains or losses.  
 

Note K2.5 Revenue recognition 
The majority of the group's net sales consist of revenues from services such as rock blasting, rock drilling, excavation services (the 
MST segment), transport and excavation services in the construction sector (the Bellmans segment), rock and gravel handling and 
soil excavation (the VSM segment). Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contracts with a customer and 
excludes amounts received on behalf of third parties, such as VAT. 
 
Sales of services 
All services are provided under a current account basis, e.g. per hour, ton or square meters of material moved. For contracts 
where the group has the right to consideration in an amount that directly corresponds to the value transferred to the customer, 
revenue is recognised in the amount that the group has a right to invoice. As the customer simultaneously receives and consumes 
the benefits provided by the group, revenue is reported in the period in which the services are delivered. Since all service 
agreements are either shorter than one year or invoiced based on a fixed price per unit, e.g. time incurred, the transaction price 
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. 
 
Generally, billing occurs subsequent to providing service to the customer. When the group has an unconditional right to 
payment for services performed, it recognises an unbilled receivable (recognised as accrued income in the balance sheet, see 
note K20) until the date when billing occurs. Once the customer is billed, the unbilled receivable is derecognised and an account 
receivable is recognised. However, if the customer pays for a good or a service in advance, before any service is rendered, a 
contract liability is recognised (presented as deferred income in the balance sheet, see note K26). 
 
Sale of goods 
Some contracts include the sale of goods. The group's sales of goods mainly comprise the resale of materials in connection with 
the performance of service contracts, such as explosives. Contracts that contain several distinct performance obligations, such as 
materials and services, are therefore reported as separate performance obligations. The transaction price is then allocated to 
each performance obligation based on their stand-alone selling prices. Revenue from the sale of goods is reported when control 
of the goods has been transferred, being when the products are delivered to the customer. 
 
Principal/agent 
In some contracts, subcontractors are involved in a service delivery. In all these contracts, the group is responsible for fulfilling the 
commitment to the customer and can set prices for the services at its own discretion. An assessment has been made that the 
group acts as the principal in these transactions, as it has control over services before they are delivered to the customer. 
Revenues and expenses arising from these agreements are reported gross (not as commission). 
 

Note K2.6 Leases 
Leases – accounting principles according to IAS 17, applicable until 31 December 2018 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the group as lessee are classified 
as operating leases (mainly leased offices). Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) 
are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.  
 
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the group, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases (leased machines/vehicles). Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of 
the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of 
finance charges, are included in other short-term and long-term payables. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability 
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance 
leases is depreciated over the asset’s useful life or over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no 
reasonable certainty that the group will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.  
 
Leases – accounting principles according to IFRS 16, applicable from 1 January 2019 
The group’s lease agreements are classified in the following asset classes: office premises, machines and equipment. The lease 
terms are negotiated individually and contain a variety of conditions. Apart from the short-term lease agreements, the lease 
terms range between three and five years, with an average lease term of approximately three years. Some agreements contain 
extension options of different lengths. 
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For all contracts where the group is a lessee (except the recognition exemptions applied, see below), a right of use asset lease 
liability are reported on the day the leased asset is available for use by the group. The right of use asset is initially measured at 
acquisition cost, which is equal to the lease liability adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to 
that lease recognised in the balance sheet made at or before the commencement date, plus any indirect costs and estimated 
costs for the dismantling or disposal of the underlying asset and the restoration of the site, less any lease incentives received. In 
subsequent periods, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the useful life of the underlying asset. The 
right of use asset is also reduced by any impairments and for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease, or if that rate can be readily determined, the lessee group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally the group 
uses the incremental borrowing rate. 
 
The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability consist of fixed payments, including in-substance fixed 
payments, variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under 
residual value guarantees and the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option.  
 
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The lease liability is remeasured if the lease 
payments change due to changes in an index or a rate, if the amount expected to be payable under residual value guarantees 
changes, or if the group changes its judgement of the possibility of exercising a purchase option or an option to extend or 
terminate a lease.  
 
When the lease liability is remeasured a corresponding adjustment is made on the asset. If the asset’s carrying amount is zero, the 
remeasurement is reported in the income statement.  
 
The Group will apply an explicit recognition and measurement exemption for short-term leases (leases for which the term ends 
within 12 months) and leases of low-value and recognise them on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Non-lease 
components will be separated from lease components regarding properties. For machinery and equipment, non-lease 
components will be included in the lease liability. The group has also elected not to apply IFRS 16 to intangible assets. 
 
The group presents right of use assets in a separate item and the lease liability as “liabilities to credit institutions” in the balance 
sheet. In the cash flow analysis, payments of the principal portion of the liabilities is shown in financing activities. Interest 
payments and payments for short-term leases and leases of low value are shown as cash flows from operating activities. 
 

Note K2.7 Business combinations 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments 
or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the: fair values of the 
assets transferred, liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business, equity interests issued by the group, assets 
or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, and any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited 
exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The group recognises any non-controlling interest in the 
acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of 
the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.  
 
The excess of the consideration transferred, amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and acquisition-date 
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity (If the business combination is achieved in stages) over the fair 
value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase. Where 
settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value 
as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar 
borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is 
classified as either equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value 
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Any gains or losses arising from remeasurement are recognised in profit or 
loss. If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement 
are recognised in profit or loss.  
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Not K2.8 Employee benefits 
Short-term obligations 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave that are expected to 
be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised 
in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit obligations in the balance sheet.  
 
Post-employment obligations 
The group has only defined contribution pension plans. For defined contribution plans, the group pays contributions to a separate 
legal entity. If this legal entity has insufficient funds to pay all the employee benefits connected to the employees’ services during 
the current or previous periods, the group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The 
contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when the employees perform services for the group.  
 

Note K2.9 Current and deferred tax 
The income tax expense or credit for the period contains current and deferred taxes. Current and deferred tax is recognised in 
profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this 
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.  
 
Current tax is calculated on the taxable profit for the period according to the applicable tax rate. The current income tax charge is 
calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where 
the company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where 
appropriate, based on amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.  
 
Deferred income tax is provided in full on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from 
the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or 
the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will 
be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and 
when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority and either refer to the same taxable entity or taxable 
entities, and intends to settle on a net basis. 
 

Note K2.10 Intangible assets 
Goodwill 
The excess of the consideration transferred, amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and acquisition-date 
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity (If the business combination is achieved in stages) over the fair 
value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.  
 
For the purposes of assessing impairment, goodwill acquired through a business combination is allocated to cash-generating units 
or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies from the acquisition. Each unit or group of units to 
which goodwill has been allocated, corresponds to the lowest level in the Group on which this goodwill is monitored in the 
internal governance. Goodwill is monitored at operating segment level. 
 
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be 
impaired. The carrying amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is attributed is compared with the recoverable 
amount, which is the highest of the value in use and the fair value less selling expenses. Any impairment is immediately reported 
as an expense and is not reversed in subsequent periods. 
 

Trademarks 
Separately acquired trademarks are shown at historical cost. They have a finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.  
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Other intangible assets 
Other intangible assets consist of a Order backlogs. A separately acquired Order backlogs is shown at historical cost. It has a 
finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.  
 
Useful lives of the group’s intangible assets 

Trademark 3 years 
Order backlogs 0,5 years 

 
Note K2.11 Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of asset and to bringing it into place and in condition to be utilised in accordance with the purpose 
of the acquisition. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the reporting period in which they are incurred.  
 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, or, in the 
case of leased plant and equipment, the shorter lease term. 
 
The useful lives are as follows: 
 

Plant and machinery 5–7 years 
Equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings 5–7 years 

             
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. An 
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. 
These are included in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, it is group policy to transfer any amounts included in other 
reserves in respect of those assets to retained earnings.  
 

Note K2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (goodwill) are not amortised but are tested for impairment annually. Assets which are 
depreciated or amortised are tested for impairment when an event or change of circumstance indicates that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. The difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment 
loss. The recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value of the asset less costs to sell and value in use. In testing for impairment, 
assets are grouped to the lowest levels at which there are essentially independent cash flows (cash-generating units). For assets 
(other than goodwill) which have previously been written down, an impairment test is made at each balance sheet date to 
determine if a reversal is required. 
 

Note K2.13 Financial instruments - general 
As of 1 January 2018, the group applies IFRS 9. Comparatives were not restated at transition, hence, IAS 39 is applied for 2017. 
Accounting principles for both 2017 (IAS 39) and for 2018 (IFRS 9) are therefore included below. The transition to IFRS 9 did not 
have any significant impact on the group’s financial position and results.  
 
Financial instruments are included in many different balance sheet items and are described below. See notes K5 Financial risk 
management, K17 Financial instruments by category and K23 Borrowings for disclosures on each type of financial asset and 
financial liability. 
 

Note K2.13.1 Classification 
Accounting policies applied until 2017 
The group classifies its financial assets and liabilities into the following categories: Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables, and other financial liabilities. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial asset 
or liability was acquired. See notes K5 Financial risk management, K17 Financial instruments by category and K23 Borrowings for 
disclosures on each type of financial asset and financial liability. The group classifies financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss if they have been acquired mainly for the purpose of being sold in the short term, i.e. if they are held for trading. 
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Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. They are recognised as current assets 
if they are expected to be sold within 12 months of the end of the reporting period, otherwise as non-current assets. 
 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed or determinable payments and that are not listed on an 
active market. They are included in current assets, with the exception of items with maturity more than 12 months after the 
balance sheet date, which are classified as fixed assets. The group's loans and receivables consist of accounts receivable, other 
current receivables, accrued income and cash and cash equivalents. 
 
Other financial liabilities 
Bonds, non-current liabilities to credit institutions, non-current finance lease liabilities, current finance lease liabilities, current 
liabilities to credit institutions, overdraft facilities, trade payables as well as other current liabilities and accrued expenses that are 
financial instruments are classified as other financial liabilities. 
 
Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018 
From 1 January 2018, the group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 

- Financial assets at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or through profit or loss), and  
- Financial assets at amortised cost 

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash 
flows. 
 
The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash 
flows. The group classifies its financial assets as at amortised cost only if both of the following criteria are met: the asset is held 
within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and the contractual terms give rise to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest. The early redemption option does not qualify for measurement at either 
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income and it therefore classified at fair value through profit or loss. 
Under 2018, there were no financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income in the group.  
 
The classification regarding financial liabilities remains unchanged; the group’s financial liabilities are classified as other financial 
liabilities and measured at amortised cost.   
 
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets that available for sale. Derivatives are classified as 
available for sale, except if they are designated as hedges. Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are 
subsequently measured at fair value and any gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value are recognised in the 
income statement. The group holds an early redemption option included in the bons, which is recognised as a derivative. For 
more information, see notes K17 and K23. 
 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and 
interest are measured at amortised cost. The interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the 
effective interest rate method. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted with any expected credit losses reported (see 
impairment below). The group's financial assets measured at amortised cost include accounts receivable, other receivables, 
accrued income and cash and cash equivalents. 
 
Other financial liabilities  
Bonds, non-current liabilities to credit institutions, non-current finance lease liabilities, current finance lease liabilities, current 
liabilities to credit institutions, overdraft facilities, accounts payable and other current liabilities and accrued expenses that are 
financial instruments are classified as other financial liabilities. 
 
Note K2.13.2 Recognition and measurement 
At initial recognition, the group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs 
of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the income statement.  
Financial assets or parts thereof, are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired 
or have been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.  
 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The 
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability (or a part thereof) that has been extinguished or transferred to 
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another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit 
or loss as other income or finance costs.  
 
Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and not derecognised, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss, which 
is measured as the difference between the original contractual cash flows and the cash flows of the modified borrowings 
discounted at the original effective interest rate.  
 
Note K2.13.3 Offsetting financial instruments (applied 2017 and 2018) 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet where there is a legally enforceable 
right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.  
 
Note K2.13.4 Impairment of financial instruments  
Accounting policies applied in 2017 – Assets measured at amortised value  
The group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurs after the initial recognition of the asset (a 
‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of 
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  
 
The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement item Other external expenses. If, in a subsequent period, the 
amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognised, the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the income statement item Other 
external expenses. 

 
Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018  
The group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortised cost. The 
group recognises a credit reserve for these expected credit losses at each reporting date. For trade receivables, the group applies 
the simplified approach, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. To 
measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics and the days past due. The group also applies forward-looking information for expected credit losses. Expected 
credit losses are recognised in the income statement item Other external expenses.   

 

Note K2.14 Inventories 
Inventories are recognised, using the first-in, first-out principle, at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in the day-to-day operations, less applicable variable selling expenses. 
 

Note K2.15 Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If 
payment is expected within a year or earlier, they are classified as current. If not, they are classified as non-current.  
 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less loss allowance.  
 

Note K2.16 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes, in both the balance sheet and the cash flow statement, cash and bank deposits. 
 

Not K2.17 Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in 
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.  
 

Note K2.18 Borrowings 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit 
or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 
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Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the reporting period.  
 
Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and 
the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other 
income or finance costs.  
 

Note K2.19 Trade payables 
Trade payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the group. Trade and other payables are presented as 
current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period.  

 
Note K2.20 Cash flow statement 
The cash flow statement is prepared according to the indirect method. The reported cash flow comprises only transactions that 
have led to cash inflows or payments. 
 

Note K2.21 Earnings per share  
Basic earnings per share  
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.  

 
Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after 
income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares.  
 

Note K3 Significant estimates and judgements 
Estimates and judgements are evaluated on an ongoing basis and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are considered reasonable under the prevailing circumstances. 
 
Impairment test for goodwill  
Each year, the group examines whether there is any need for impairment for goodwill, in accordance with the accounting 
principle described in note K2.10. Recoverable values for cash-generating units have been determined by calculating value in use. 
For these calculations, some estimates must be made. For more information, see note K15. 
 
For further information on the group's financial risk management, see note K5. For further information on how goodwill has been 
calculated, see note K15. 
 

Note K4 Segment information 
Description of segments and principal activities 
The Bellman Group’s management, consisting of the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer and the CEOs of the 
subsidiaries, has been identified as being the chief operating decision maker and assesses the financial performance and position 
of the group. The group management has identified the reportable segments based on the information provided to them and 
which is used as a basis for allocating resources and evaluating results. 
The group management monitors the operations based on the three operating segments MST, Bellmans, VSM and the segment 
Other. The group management primarily applies EBITDA to monitor the performance of the operating segments.  
 
MST 
Services in rock blasting, rock drilling and excavation services. 
 
Bellmans 
Transport and excavation services in the construction sector. 
 
VSM 
Rock and gravel management and earth excavation. 
 
Other 
Group management and other central services.  
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Net sales 
Sales between segments are made on market terms. The revenue from external customers reported for the segments to group 
management is measured in the same way as in the consolidated income statement. 
 

MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Net sales   -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

MST  230.4 237.9 

Bellmans  641.1 309.1 

VSM  248.0 - 

Elimination intercompany sales   -28.9 -4.4 

Total net sales  1,090.6 542.6 

    
MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

EBITDA before items affecting comparability   -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

MST  31.5 24.9 

Bellmans  37.7 15.1 

VSM  35.8 - 

Other   -0.4 -0.8 

Total EBITDA before items affecting comparability  104.6 39.2 

    
MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Operating profit/loss   -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

MST  18.5 13.2 

Bellmans  25.7 9.5 

VSM  19.9 - 

Other   -12.8 -8.1 

Total operating profit/loss  51.3 14.6 
 
    

MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment   -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

MST  -13.3 -11.7 

Bellmans  -11.9 -5.6 

VSM  -16.0 - 

Other   -0.6 - 

Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment  -41.8 -17.3 

 
Below is a reconciliation between profit/loss before tax and EBITDA before items affecting comparability: 
 

MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

    -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

EBITDA before items affecting comparability  104.6 39.2 

Items affecting comparability (for definition, see page 63)  -11.5 -7.3 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  -41.8 -17.3 

Financial items  -21.9 -8.1 

Profit/loss before income tax  29.4 6.5 
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The working capital of the segments is allocated as follows: 
 

MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Working capital   -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

MST  20.1 23.1 

Bellmans  -5.0 2.3 

VSM  48.7 - 

Other   -25.8 -21.5 

Total working capital  38.0 3.9 

 
Group-wide information 
The group has the following types of revenue: 
 

MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Revenue   -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Services  1,090.6 542.6 

Other revenue  7.9 2.7 

Total revenue   1,098.5 545.3 

 

Note K5 Financial risk management 
The business activities imply that the Bellman Group is exposed to several types of financial risks. The most significant risks are 
normally interest rate risk and credit risk. Other financial risks include financing risk and liquidity risk. The Bellman Group does 
not speculate on fluctuations in the financial markets, but aims to reduce the risks and focus on the core business. Risks are 
managed in accordance with policies established by the Board of directors. The group identifies, evaluates and hedges financial 
risks in close co-operation with the group's operating units if necessary. The Board of Directors establishes written policies for 
both the overall risk management and for specific areas, such as refinancing risk, credit risk and interest rate risk. 
 
The overall objectives of the Bellman Group's financial activities are to: 

 Identify and reduce the financial risks in the group's business in a cost-effective manner 

 Ensure that the necessary liquidity is always available for daily operations 

 Reduce potential losses due to negligence on financial counterparties 

 Achieving the best possible net financial income/expense through effective management within a given risk level 

 Strive to be an attractive borrower and to plan in advance to ensure that the group is offered financing on competitive 
market terms 

 Reduce the refinancing risk by ensuring that alternative financial options are available 
 
Refinancing risk 
Refinancing risk can be described as the lack of access to long-term or short-term financing at the due date for existing long-
term or short-term financing. The risk is limited by the fact that the group has always confirmed unutilised credit facilities that 
are deemed to be sufficiently large and by refinancing always commencing well in advance of loan maturity. 
 
The group shall strive to have access to both short- and long-term loan facilities at any given time. This is achieved through 
advance planning, regular liquidity forecasts and good relations with creditors, taking into account the bond terms. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk of not being able to meet payment obligations at the due dates without the cost of obtaining 
payment means increasing significantly. Group management continuously monitors forecasts for the group's liquidity reserve 
and liquid funds based on expected cash flows.  
 
As of 31 December 2018, the group had an unutilised credit facility in the form of overdraft facilities amounting to SEK 38 million 
(SEK 20 million). The overdraft facility can be used when needed and can be terminated by the bank without notice.  
 
The table below shows the group's non-derivative financial liabilities, broken down by the time remaining on the balance sheet 
date until the contractual maturity date. The amounts stated in the table are the contractual, undiscounted cash flows. 
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MSEK 

Less than  
1 year 

Between 1 
and 5 years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Carrying 
amount 

liabilities 

At 31 December 2017     
Trade payables 83.4 - 83.4 83.4 

Bonds 14.3 270.1 284.4 212.8 

Seller loans 19.5 39.0 58.5 58. 

Finance lease liabilities 1.1 3.2 4.3 4.3 

Summa 118.3 312.3 430.6 359.0 

At 31 December 2018     
Trade payables 134.5 - 134.5 134.5 

Bonds 32.5 581.3 613.8 484.1 

Seller loans 19.5 18.2 37.7 37.7 

Finance lease liabilities 1.5 3.6 5.1 5.1 

Summa 187.8 603.3 791.1 661.4 

 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is defined as the risk that a counterparty cannot meet its payment obligations towards the Bellman Group. Credit risk 
arises through holdings in cash and cash equivalents, balances with banks and credit institutions, and customer credit exposures 
including outstanding receivables. Credit risk within the normal business operations is primarily related to accounts receivable. 
Granted customer credits are based on a professional assessment of the customer in question. Each group company is 
responsible for following up and analysing the credit risk for each new customer. The group's sales are distributed among a large 
number of customers, with a history of low credit losses. Credit risk is managed by group management. 
 

Changes in the credit loss allowance as follows: 
 

MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Changes in the credit loss allowance   -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

At 1 January  7.1 3.8 

Credit loss allowance*  1.0 3.3 

At 31 December  8.1 7.1 
 
* Calculation of expected credit losses according to IFRS 9 has been applied as of 1 January 2018, while the credit loss allowance is calculated 
according to IAS 39 for the comparative period. Since the effect of the transition to IFRS 9 on the credit loss allowance was not significant, no 
adjustments were made to the opening balance. See note K2.13.4 for further information on how impairment is calculated. 

 

Individually assessed trade receivables which are considered uncollectible are written down by directly reducing the carrying 
amount. Other receivables are assessed collectively to determine if there is objective evidence of impairment. Receivables for 
which an impairment reserve has previously been recognised are offset against the reserve when the group is no longer expected 
to recover further cash and cash equivalents. Impairment losses are recognised as other expenses in the income statement. If the 
impairment is reduced in a subsequent period, the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. 
 
During the financial year, the following gains/losses were recognised in the income statement in relation to impaired trade 
receivables:  
 

MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Impairment losses   -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

- realised losses  2.2 1.4 

- movement in loss allowance for trade receivables  1.0 3.3 

Reversal of previous impairment losses  -6.6 - 

Total impairment losses   -3.4 4.7 

 
The revised version of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures has been applied for the current year, while the previous version 
of IFRS 7 has been applied for the comparative periods. The information below refers only to the comparative year (2017). 
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As of December 31, 2017, trade receivables amounting to SEK 8.9 million were past due without any need for impairment. The 
past due receivables relate to a number of customers who have not previously had payment difficulties. Of these receivables, 
SEK 8.3 million had not been due for more than three months and SEK 0.6 million had been due for more than three months. 
 
Other categories of trade receivables and other receivables do not include assets for which impairment is required. Based on 
credit history, the amounts are expected to be received at the due date. The group has no collateral for these receivables. 
 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the interest rate level on the group's financial instruments will be affected by changes in 
the market interest rate, which may adversely affect its net interest income. 
 
The only significant external liabilities in the Bellman Group's balance sheet as of 31 December 2018 are a corporate bond listed 
on Nasdaq Stockholm, amounting to SEK 500.0 million (SEK 220 million) (framework amount SEK 600.0 million) and a seller loan 
to Hasseludd Holding AB amounting to SEK 37.7 million (SEK 58.5 million). The maturity of the bond extends to 19 June 2022 and 
entails an annual interest rate of STIBOR 3 months + 6.50 percentage points. If interest rates on borrowings at 31 December 
2018 were 100 basis points higher, holding all other variables constant, the estimated profit after tax for the financial year had 
been SEK 3.6 million lower (SEK 0.9 million), mainly as an effect of higher interest expenses for borrowing with variable interest 
rate. The seller loan runs free of interest. 
 
According to the terms of the bond, the group is also entitled to an overdraft facility of SEK 38.0 million to finance working 
capital. The Bellman Group shall, as far as possible, reduce capital tied up, leading to positive effects in the income statement 
and balance sheet. 
 
Capital structure 
The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, and to continue to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.  
 
Consistent with others in the industry, the group monitors capital based on the equity/assets ratio. This key performance 
indicator is calculated as equity divided by total assets. As of 31 December 2018, the group’s equity/assets ratio was 24.2 % 
(15.3 %). 
 
Covenants 
Under the terms and conditions of the bonds, certain covenants must be met each time the Group enters into a new business 
combination. All covenants were met in connection with the acquisitions of MST and Bellmans.  
 

Note K6 Other operating income 
 

MSEK    

   1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Other operating income   -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Gain on sale of machinery and equipment  5.4 1.3 

Other income  2.5 1.4 

Total other operating income   7.9 2.7 

 
 

Note K7 Other operating expenses 
 

MSEK    

   1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Other operating expenses   -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Loss on sale of machinery and equipment  - 0.6 

Total other operating expenses   - 0.6 
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Note K8 Employee benefits  
 

MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

    -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Salaries and other benefits  115.0 52.0 

Social security contribution  36.1 15.0 

Pension costs – defined contribution plans   8.9 4.4 

Total employee benefits   160.0 71.4 

 
 

MSEK 1 Jan 2018 - 31 Dec 2018 1 Jan 2017 - 31 Dec 2017 

Salaries and other benefits and social security contributions 

Salaries and 
other 

benefits 

Social 
security 

contributions  
(of which 

pension 
costs) 

Salaries and 
other 

benefits 

Social 
security 

contributions  
(of which 

pension 
costs) 

Board members, CEOs and other senior executives 9.9 4.8 (1.7) 4.1 2.3 (1.0) 

Other employees 105.1 40.2 (7.2) 48.7 17.1 (3.4) 

Total group 115.5 45.0 (8.9) 52.8 19.4 (4.4) 

    

 

 

 1 Jan 2018 - 31 Dec 2018 1 Jan 2017 - 31 Dec 2017 

Average number of employees 
Average no 

of employees 
Of which 

men 
Average no 

of employees 
Of which 

men 

Sweden 223 189 143 121 

Total, group 223 189 143 121 

 
 
Gender distribution in the group for directors and other senior executives: 
 

 1 Jan 2018 - 31 Dec 2018 1 Jan 2017 - 31 Dec 2017 

Gender division in the group for Board members and other senior 
executives: 

Number of 
board members 

on the balance 
sheet date 

Of which 
men 

Number of 
board 

members on 
the balance 

sheet date Of which men 

Directors 5 3 4 4 

CEO and other senior executives 5 5 4 4 

Total, group 10 8 8 8 

 
Remuneration of senior executives 
Senior executives include the directors and group management and their remuneration refers to: 
 

MSEK 
      

  1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

    -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Salaries and other short-term benefits  11.6 5.6 

Severance pay  - - 

Post-employment benefits (defined contribution plans)   - 0.9 

Total remuneration to directors and other senior executives   11.6 6.5 
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Remuneration and other benefits 2018 Basic 
salary/ 

directors’ 
fee 

Variable 
remune-

ration 
Other 

benefits 
Pension 

costs 
Consul-
ting fee Total 

Chairman of the board Björn Andersson (from Dec 11, 2018) 0.1 - - - - 0.1 

Chairman of the board Per Nordlander (until Dec 10, 2018) - - - - - - 

Group CEO and director Håkan Lind 1.5 1.1 0.1 0.3 - 3.0 

Director Christina Ragsten (from Dec 11, 2018) - - - - - - 

Director Ingalill Östman (from Dec 11, 2018) - - - - - - 

Director Per Nordlander (from Dec 11, 2018) - - - - - - 

Director Robin Karlsson (until Dec 10, 2018) - - - - - - 

Other senior executives 4.8 2.0 0.3 1.4 - 8.5 

Total 6.4 3.1 0.4 1.7 - 11.6 

 

 

Remunerations and other benefits 2017 Basic 
salary/ 

directors’ 
fee 

Variable 
remune-

ration 
Other 

benefits 
Pension 

costs 
Consul-
ting fee Total 

Chairman of the board Per Nordlander - - - - - - 

Chairman of the board Tore Hallersbo (until Dec, 2017) 0.3 - - - 1.0 1.3 

Group CEO and director Håkan Lind  0.2 0.2 - 0.1 - 0.5 

Director Björn Andersson 0.2 - - - - 0.2 

Director Robin Karlsson - - - - - - 

Other senior executives 2.5 1.1 0.1 0.8 - 4.5 

Total 3.2 1.3 0.1 0.9 1.0 6.5 

 
Other benefits refer to a company car. 
 
Guidelines 
Fees are paid to the chairman and members of the board in accordance with the resolution of the annual general meeting. No 
separate fee is paid for committee work. The board of directors has adopted on the following guidelines regarding remuneration 
of management: remuneration to the CEO and other senior executives comprises basic salary, variable remuneration, other 
benefits and pension. “Other senior executives” refer to the four persons who together with the CEO make up the group 
management. These are Roger Axelsson (the group's CFO), Robin Karlsson (CEO MST), Magnus Persson (CEO VSM) and Dick Örn 
(CEO Bellmans). 
 
The CEO's total remuneration is decided by the board. Guidelines for remuneration of other members of group management are 
proposed by the remuneration committee and adopted by the board. The Bellman Group strives to offer a competitive total 
compensation package that enables it to recruit and retain senior executives. The total compensation package is based on 
factors such as position, performance and individual qualifications. The total remuneration paid to members of the 
management team consists of a fixed cash salary, variable cash remuneration, pension, and other remuneration and benefits. 

 The fixed cash salary is reviewed annually and is used as a basis for calculating variable remuneration. 

 Variable cash remuneration is dependent partly on the individual’s achievement of annually defined targets and partly on 
the achievement of predefined financial targets. The outcome is followed up annually. All members of the senior 
management team have the potential to receive variable remuneration equal to six months’ cash salary. There is thus a 
clear link between remuneration, individual performance and the performance of the Group as a whole. 

 Senior executives are entitled to retirement benefits in accordance with their respective occupational pension plans. 

 Other remuneration and benefits must be in line with market levels and help the senior executive to fulfil his or her 
duties, such as a company car, occupational health benefits, etc. 

 
Senior executives are entitled to 12 months' notice if the employment is terminated by the employer and 6 months if the 
employee resigns. For all, a non-competition restriction applies in the notice of termination is given by the employee.  
If there are special reasons in any individual case, the board has the right to depart from the above guidelines. 
 
Defined contribution plans 
The group only has defined contribution pension plans. Pension cost refers to the cost that affected the profit for the year. 
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Note K9 Audit fees   
 

MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Audit fees   -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

PwC:     

- Audit engagement  1.6 0.6 

- Audit-related fees  - 0.6 

- Tax fees  0.1 0.1 

- Other services  1.0 2.0 

Total PwC   2.7 3.3 

Folkesson Råd & Revision AB:     

- Audit assignment  - 0.2 

Total Folkesson Råd & Revision AB   - 0.2 

Total audit fees   2.7 3.5 

 
Other services include general advice on accounting rules, valuation methods and formal requirements as well as language 
control. Most of the other services were delivered before the company's bonds were listed on Nasdaq. 
 

Note K10 Operating leases 
 
The group's operating leases mainly consist of renting office premises, machines and tools. 

 

MSEK     

 1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Operating leases -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Future minimum lease payment obligations were distributed as follows:    

Within 1 year 8.5 2.9 

Between 1 and 5 years 11.9 7.8 

Later than 5 years - - 

Total operating leases 20.3 10.7 

 
Leasing fees expensed during the year amount to SEK 2.2 million (SEK 3.7 million) and are included in the item Other external 
expenses in the income statement. The difference in future lease payments compared with IFRS 16 is due to a short-term lease 
that is not included in Note K2.1.2. 
 

Note K11 Financial income and expenses 
 

MSEK     

 1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Finance income -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Interest income 0.1 - 

Unrealised gains attributable to derivatives 0.2 1.0 

Profit  from participations in associated companies 4.5 - 

Other financial income 0.4 0.1 

Total finance income 5.2 1.1 

 
 

MSEK     

 1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Finance expenses  -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Interest expense attributable to:    

- Bonds 26.5 8.7 

- Other liabilities to credit institutions 0.2 0.3 

- Finance lease liabilities 0.3 0.2 

Total finance expenses 27.0 9.2 
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Note K12 Income tax expense 
 

MSEK     

 1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Income tax expense -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Current tax expense:    

- Current tax on profits for the year 1.0 2.9 

- Adjustments for current tax of prior periods 1.2 - 

Total current tax expense 2.2 2.9 

Deferred income tax (Note K24 Deferred tax):    

- Decrease and increase of temporary differences - 2.2 

- Deferred tax attributable to tax losses 2.1 -2.4 

Total deferred income tax 2.1 -0.2 

Total income tax expense 4.3 2.7 

 
Income tax on profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount when using the tax rate in Sweden for the results in the 
consolidated entities as follows: 
 

MSEK     

 1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

  -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Profit before tax: 29.4 6.5 

Income tax at the tax rate in Sweden (22 %) 6.6 1.4 

Effect of changed tax rate in Sweden (21.4 %) -2.3 - 

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income:     

- Acquisition related costs - 1.1 

- Other items 0.2 0.2 

Non-taxable items -0.2 - 

Total income tax expense 4.3 2.7 

 
The group’s weighted average tax rate was 14.6 % (41.5 %). 
 
The tax attributable to components in other comprehensive income amounts to SEK 0.0 million (SEK 0.0 million). 
 

Note K13 Earnings per share 
 

SEK     

 1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Earnings per share -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Total basic earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company in SEK 18.31 5.91 

Total diluted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company in SEK 18.31 5.91 

 

MSEK     

 1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Reconciliations of earnings used in calculating earnings per share: -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Basic and diluted earnings per share:    

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company 24.6 3.8 

 

     

 1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Weighted average number of shares  -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating basic and diluted 
earnings per share  1,344,176 643,045 
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Note K14 Business combination 
On 17 July 2018, Bellman Group acquired all shares in VSM Entreprenad AB including subsidiaries. VSM is a plant and 
construction machinery company with operations that mainly include rock and gravel handling at stationary and mobile crushing 
plants, excavation contracts within road, tunnel, construction and development, as well as leasing of machines and drivers. 
Through the acquisition, Bellman Group strengthens its position in the plant and construction machinery industry in Sweden. 
The acquisition was financed through newly issued shares and issuance of new bonds. Information on purchase price, net assets 
acquired and goodwill are shown below: 
 
Acquisition analysis 

    

Purchase consideration: MSEK 

Cash paid 239.3 

Ordinary shares issued 100.0 

Total purchase consideration 339.3 

 
The fair value of the 641,702 ordinary shares issued as part of the consideration for VSM (SEK 100 million) was based on an 
estimated market value of SEK 155.8 per share. The fair value of treasury shares has been established using a generally accepted 
valuation method. The valuation method means that the company value is calculated using an EBITDA multiple that corresponds 
to comparable companies in the same industry. 
The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:  
 

Fair value MSEK 

Cash 33.4 

Trade receivables 49.7 

Plant and equipment 208.8 

Other current receivables 49.0 

Intangible assets: trademarks 2.7 

Trade payables -33.6 

Deferred tax liability -17.7 

Other current liabilities -131.7 

Net identifiable assets acquired 160.6 

Non-controlling interests -5.1 

Goodwill 183..8 

Net assets acquired 339.3 

 
The goodwill is attributable to the workforce and the high profitability of the acquired business. It will not be deductible for tax 
purposes.  
 
Acquired receivables: 
The fair value of acquired trade receivables is SEK 49.7 million. The gross contractual amount for trade receivables due is SEK 
54.3 million.  
 
Revenue and profit contribution:  
The acquired business contributed revenues of SEK 248.9 million and net profit of SEK 18.6 million to the group for the period 
from 17 July to 31 December 2018. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2018, consolidated pro-forma revenue and 
profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 would have been SEK 557.2 million and SEK 35.1 million respectively. These 
amounts have been calculated using the subsidiary’s results and adjusting them for differences in the accounting policies 
between the group and the subsidiary, and the additional amortisation that would have been charged assuming the fair value 
adjustments to intangible assets had applied from 1 January 2018, together with the consequential tax effects.  
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MSEK     

    1 Jan 2018 

Purchase consideration – cash outflow   -31 Dec 2018 

Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, net of cash acquired   
Cash consideration   239.3 

Less: Balances acquired     
Cash   -33.4 

Net outflow of cash – investing activities 205.9 

 
In 2018, an additional contingent consideration was paid in connection with the acquisition of Bellmans, amounting to SEK 1.3 
million. 
 
Acquisition-related costs:  
Acquisition-related costs of SEK 3.3 million are included in Other external expenses in profit or loss and in operating cash flows 
in the statement of cash flows.  
 

Note K15 Intangible assets 
 

MSEK     

     

Intangible assets 
Goodwill Trademarks 

Order 
backlogs Total 

At 1 January 2017         

Cost 68.4 0.9 0.2 69.5 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment -67.6 -0.3 -0.2 -68.1 

Net book amount  0.8 0.6 - 1.4 

Year ended 31 December 2017     
Opening net book amount 0.8 0.6 - 1.4 

Acquisition of business 143.1 3.4 - 146.5 

Amortisations - -0.8 - -0.8 

Closing net book amount  143.9 3.2 - 147.1 

Year ended 31 December 2018     
Opening net book amount 144.0 3.2 - 147.2 

Acquisition of business (note K14 business combination) 186.2 2.2 0.5 188.9 

Amortisations - -1.9 -0.1 -2.0 

Closing net book amount 330.2 3.5 0.4 334.0 

At 31 December 2018     
Cost 397.8 6.5 0.7 405.0 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment -67.6 -3.0 -0.3 -70.9 

Net book amount 330.2 3.5 0.4 334.0 

 
Impairment tests for goodwill 
Goodwill is monitored by group management at the level of the operating segments identified in note K4 Segment information. 
A segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below.  
 

MSEK     

   

 Goodwill 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

MST 0.8 0.8 

Bellmans 145.6 143.2 

VSM 183.8 - 

Total goodwill 330.2 143.9 

 

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations  
The group tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment on an annual basis. For the 2018 and 2017 reporting period, the 
recoverable amount of the cash generating units was determined based on value-in-use calculations, which require the use of 
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assumptions. The calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering the 
following year. EBITDA margins used in the budgets amount to between 5.9 and 15.4 % (6.7-10.0 %). EBITDA margins are 
expected to remain in line with the 2018 level. Sales growth per year after the coming year is extrapolated to be in line with the 
long-term growth rate stated below. When the value in use is calculated, a long-term growth rate turnover of 3.0 % (2.0 %) has 
been applied. The applied discount rate before tax amounts to 10.3 % (between 10.1 and 10.8 % (13.6 - 14.4 %). 
 
Management has determined the values assigned to each of the above key assumptions as follows:  
 
Assumption Approach used to determining values  

 
Long-term growth rate  This is the weighted average growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the 

budget period. The rates are consistent with forecasts included in industry reports.  
  
 

Pre-tax discount rates  Reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments. 

 
Some sensitivity to deterioration in the EBITDA margin exists for segments Bellmans, where a decrease in the EBITDA margin by 
more than 1.0 percentage points would indicate an impairment requirement. The company does not assess this as likely. 
 
Reasonable changes in key assumptions are not expected to lead to significant changes in value in use that would result in 
impairment of goodwill. 
 

Note K16 Property, plant and equipment 
 

MSEK    

Property, plant and equipment 
Plant and 

machinery 
Equipment, tools, 

fixtures and fittings Total 

At 1 January 2017 
   

Cost 89.4 7.0 96.4 

Accumulated depreciation -52.2 -5.8 -58.0 

Net book amount 37.2 1.2 38.4 

Year ended 31 December 2017    
Opening net book amount 37.2 1.2 38.4 

Acquisition of subsidiary (note K14 business combination) 57.5 - 57.5 

Additions 38.5 1.8 40.3 

Retirements and disposals  -2.6 -0.5 -3.1 

Depreciation  -15.9 -0.5 -16.4 

Closing net book amount 114.7 2.0 116.7 

Year ended 31 December 2018    
Opening net book amount 114.7 2.0 116.7 

Acquisition of subsidiary (note K14 business combination) 205.1 3.7 208.8 

Additions 43.3 - 43.3 

Retirements and disposals -7.7 -0.1 -7.8 

Depreciation -38.9 -0.9 -39.8 

Closing net book amount 316.5 4.7 321.2 

At 31 December 2018    
Cost 433.8 12.5 446.3 

Accumulated depreciation -117.3 -7.8 -125.1 

Net book amount 316.5 4.7 321.2 

 
Plant and machinery includes the following amounts where the group is a lessee under a finance lease:  
 

MSEK     

    

Leased assets 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Cost 8.5 7.3 

Accumulated depreciation -3.4 -2.1 

Net book amount 5.1 5.2 
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MSEK     

    

Commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows:  31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Within 1 years 1.6 1.2 

Between 1 and 5 years 3.7 3.3 

Later than 5 years - - 

Minimum lease payments 5.3 4.4 

   

Future finance charges  -0.2 -0.1 

Present value of finance lease liabilities 5.1 4.3 

 
MSEK     

    

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:  31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Within 1 years 1.5 1.1 

Between 1 and 5 years 3.6 3.2 

Later than 5 years - - 

Minimum lease payments 5.1 4.3 

 
Note K17 Financial instruments by category 
 
The group holds the following financial instruments:  
 

MSEK    

Financial assets 
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 
Financial assets at 

amortised cost Total 

At 31 December 2017    
Loans and receivables (excl. non-financial receivables) - 116.7 116.7 

Derivative financial instruments 1.0 - 1.0 

Cash and cash equivalents - 88.2 88.2 

Net book value 1.0 204.9 205.9 

At 31 December 2018    
Loans and receivables (excl. non-financial receivables) - 243.2 243.2 

Derivative financial instruments 1.2 0.3 1.5 

Cash and cash equivalents - 94.5 94.5 

Net book value 1.2 338.0 339.2 

 

MSEK   

Financial liabilities 
Liabilities at amortised 

cost Total 

Net book value   
Trade and other payables (excl. non-financial liabilities) 83.4 83.4 

Borrowings 275.6 275.6 

Net book value 359.0 359.0 

At 31 December 2018   
Trade and other payables (excl. non-financial liabilities) 134.5 134.5 

Borrowings 526.9 526.9 

Net book value 661.4 661.4 

 
For information regarding cash and cash equivalents, see note K5 Financial risk management and K21 Cash and cash equivalents. 
For information regarding financial liabilities, see note K23 Borrowings. 
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
The group's financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss consist of an early redemption option included in the 
bond, which is reported as a derivative. The group has classified this financial instrument at level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. No 
transfers between the levels were made during the period. The fair value of the derivative has been determined based on the 
present value and the applied discount rate has been adjusted for own credit risk. Observable input data refers to the risk-
adjusted discount rate and the expected cash flows. As of 31 December 2018, fair value amounted to SEK 1.2 million (1.0). 
 
Trade receivables 
 

MSEK     

    

Trade receivables 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Trade receivables 224.0 121.3 

Less: loss allowance -8.1 -7.1 

Net book value 215.9 114.2 

 
The carrying amounts of trade receivables are considered to be the same as their fair values, since the impact of discounting is 
not significant. 
 
Impairment and risk exposure 
Information on impairment of trade receivables, their credit rating and the group's credit risk exposure can be found in note K5 
Financial risk management. 
 

Note K18 Inventories 
Inventories recognised as an expense in the item Raw materials and consumables in the consolidated income statement 
amounted to SEK 42.3 million (SEK 41.2 million). Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value amounted to SEK 0.0 million 
(SEK 0.6 million).  
 
 

Note K19 Other current receivables 
 

MSEK     

    

Other current receivables 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

VAT recoverable 5.5 4.4 

Settlement of taxes and fees 0.8 0.3 

Other receivables 4.2 2.7 

Total other current receivables 10.5 7.4 

 
The carrying amounts of other current receivables are considered to be the same as their fair values, since the impact of 
discounting is not significant. 
 

Note K20 Prepaid expenses and accrued income  
 

MSEK     

    

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Prepaid leasing 0.2 0.1 

Accrued income 27.3 10.3 

Other items 4.5 1.6 

Total prepaid expenses and accrued income 32.0 12.0 

 
Note K21 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes, in both the balance sheet and the cash flow statement, consist of bank deposits. 
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Note K22 Equity 
Establishment of the group  

As Bellman Group AB and MST were under the common control of Verdane Capital before and after the acquisition on 1 July 
2017, IFRS 3 is not applicable. Bellman Group's accounting policy for business transactions under common control is to apply a 
method in which historical values are used. When applying this method, Bellman Group AB also assumes a perspective as the 
controlling entity. MST's assets and liabilities are therefore consolidated into Bellman Group AB's financial statements using 
carrying amounts from the acquisition made by Verdane Capital on January 1, 2016. This requires the remaining goodwill arising 
from the original acquisition of MST by Verdane Capital be recognised on 1 January 2016. No additional goodwill to be 
recognised on 1 July 2017 will arise. Equity in the opening balance as of 1 January 2016 comprises equity attributable to the 
establishment of the Group. 
 

Share capital 
All shares issued by the parent company are paid in full. On 31 December 2018, the total number of ordinary shares amounted 
to 1,944,642 (1,014,174). Ordinary shares have a nominal amount of SEK 1. The ordinary share is entitled one vote and entitles 
to dividend. 
 
Other contributed capital 
The item consists of equity attributable to the establishment of the group, share premium and shareholder contributions. 
 
Specification of the change in the number of shares, share capital and other contributed capital: 
 

MSEK 

Number 
of shares 

Share 
capital 

Other 
contri-
buted 

capital Total 

Year ended 31 December 2017     

Opening balance - - 0.2 0.2 

Registration of share capital 50,000 0.1 - 0.1 

Issue of new shares 450,000 0.4 - 0.4 

Acquisition of subsidiary (note K14 Business combinations) 500,000 0.5 29.4 29.9 

Private placement of shares to two senior executives under registration 14,174 - 2.0 2.0 

Shareholder’s contribution - - 15.8 15.8 

At 31 December 2017 1,014,174 1.0 47.4 48.4 

Year ended 31 December 2018         

Opening balance 1,014,174 1.0 47.4 48.4 

Acquisition of subsidiary (note 14 Business combinations) 930,468 0.9 144.1 145.0 

At 31 December 2018 1,944,642 1.9 191.5 193.4 

 
Total equity increased by SEK 145.0 million, of which SEK 45.0 million constitutes a cash issue and SEK 100.0 million pertains to 
part of the purchase price in business combinations (see note K14). 
 

Note K23 Borrowings 
 

MSEK 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Borrowings Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total 

Secured             

Bonds - 484.1 484.1 - 212.8 212.8 

Liabilities to credit institutions 1.3 3.8 5.1 1.1 3.2 4.3 

Total secured borrowings 1.3 487.9 489.2 1.1 216.0 217.1 

       
Unsecured       
Trade payables 134.5 - 134.5 83.4 - 83.4 

Seller loans 19.5 18.2 37.7 19.5 39.0 58.5 

Total unsecured borrowings 154.0 18.2 172.2 102.9 39.0 141.9 

Total borrowings 155.3 506.1 661.4 104.0 255.0 359.0 
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Contractual maturities of non-current financial liabilities  
 

MSEK 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Borrowings 
1-5 

years 
Over  

5 years Total 
1-5 

years 
Over  

5 years Total 

Secured             

Bonds 500.0 - 500.0 220.0 - 220.0 

Financing costs -15.9 - -15.9 -7.2 - -7.2 

Total secured borrowings 484.1 - 484.1 212.8 - 212.8 

       
Unsecured       
Seller loans 18.2 - 18.2 39.0 - 39.0 

Total unsecured borrowings 18.2 - 18.2 39.0 - 39.0 

Total borrowings 502.3 - 502.3 251.8 - 251.8 

 
The parent company has issued corporate bonds that are listed on Nasdaq Stockholm. This instrument is listed as BELLMAN 
GROUP AB 01 with 500 units (220 units), with a total outstanding nominal amount of SEK 500 million (SEK 220 million) and has a 
nominal value of SEK 1.0 million (SEK 1.0 million) per unit. Financing expenses of SEK 11,6 million (SEK 8.3 million) attributable to 
the bond loan have been reported against the loan. The bond interest rate is variable interest three months STIBOR plus 6.50 
percent, which is paid quarterly in arrears. The bond matures in June 2022. The parent company has provided shares in 
subsidiaries as collateral for the bond loan. The terms of the bond include an option that entitles the holder to the early 
repayment of the loan. This option is reported as a derivative and is classified as a financial asset that is measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. The terms of the corporate bond loan are available on Bellman Group AB's (publ) website, 
www.bellmangroup.se. 
 
The seller loan amounts to a total of SEK 37.7 million (SEK 58.5 million), of which SEK 19.5 million (SEK 19.5 million) is a current 
liability and SEK 18.2 million (SEK 39.0 million) is a non-current liability. The seller loan runs without interest and is unsecured. 
The terms of the loan stipulate that instalment payments should begin in 2018 and that the loan must be fully repaid by 2022. 
 
The group leases certain property, plant and equipment through finance leasing agreements. The lease agreements refer to 
vehicles. The agreements expire within 36 to 48 months and the carrying amount amounts to SEK 5.1 million (SEK 4.3 million). 
 
According to the terms of the lease agreements, the group is able to either extend them by one year at a time (the leases can, 
however, be terminated at any time during the term) or acquire the vehicles to the current residual value after the end of the 
lease term. 
 
The carrying amount of the pledged financial and non-financial assets is stated in note K27 Assets pledged as security. 
Information on the group's exposure to risks relating to borrowings can be found in note K5 Financial risk management. 
 
Covenants 
Under the terms and conditions of the bonds, certain covenants must be met each time the Group enters into a new business 
combination. All covenants were met in connection with the acquisitions of MST and Bellmans. 
 

Note K24 Deferred tax 
 

MSEK     

    

Deferred tax assets 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:     

Tax losses 0.3 2.4 

Total deferred tax assets 0.3 2.4 

   
  

http://www.bellmangroup.se/
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MSEK     
 
Deferred tax liabilities 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:     

Intangible assets (trademark and Order backlogs) 0.8 0.1 

Financial assets (derivative financial instruments) 0.3 0.2 

Untaxed reserves 41.1 22.9 

Other items - -0.1 

Total deferred tax liabilities 42.2 23.1 

Set-off of deferred tax assets  -0.3 -2.4 

Net deferred taxes 41.9 20.7 

 
Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into account offsetting made within the same 
tax jurisdiction, are shown below: 
 

MSEK 

 
Deferred tax assets Tax losses 

At 1 January 2017 - 

Charged to the income statement 2.4 

At 31 December 2017 2.4 

Charged to the income statement -2.1 

At 31 December 2018 0.3 

 
Deferred tax assets of SEK 0.3 million (SEK 2.4 million) mainly relate to tax losses in the parent company. The assessment is that 
the tax losses will be recovered using future taxable income in the group. The tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely and 
have no expiry date. 
 

MSEK      

Deferred tax liabilities 
Intangible 

assets 
Financial  

assets 
Untaxed 
reserves Other items Total 

At 1 January 2017 0.1 - 8.0 -0.3 7.8 

Charged to the income statement - 0.2 2.2 - 2.4 

Increase through acquisitions - - 12.7 0.2 12.9 

At 31 December 2017 0.1 0.2 22.9 -0.1 23.1 

Charged to the income statement 0.1 0.1 1.1 0.1 1.4 

Increase through acquisitions 0.6 - 17.1 - 17.7 

At 31 December 2018 0.8 0.3 41.1 - 42.2 

 

Note K25 Other current liabilities 
 

MSEK     

   

Other current liabilities 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Employee withholding tax and social security contributions 6.5 2.4 

VAT 5.3 2.3 

Current part of seller loan 19.5 19.5 

Other current liabilities 0.6 0.2 

Total other current liabilities 31.9 24.4 

 
The carrying amounts of other current liabilities are considered to be the same as their fair values, since the impact of 
discounting is not significant.  
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Note K26 Accrued expenses and deferred income 
 

MSEK     

   

Accrued expenses and deferred income 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Accrued salaries 6.8 3.5 

Accrued social security contributions 8.4 4.3 

Accrued vacation pay 16.3 7.6 

Haulage settlements 6.2 4.4 

Accrued interest expenses 1.1 0.5 

Deferred income (contract liability) 1.9 0.2 

Other items 18.2 9.1 

Total accrued expenses and deferred income 58.9 29.6 

 
SEK 0.2 million (100 %) of the contract liability (deferred income) as of 31 December 2017 has been reported as revenue in 2018. 

 
Note K27 Assets pledged as security 
 

MSEK     

   

Assets pledged as security 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Bonds:    

- Net assets in subsidiaries  612.5 181.6 

Other financial liabilities:    

- Floating charges 38.0 15.0 

- Plant and machinery - - 

Total assets pledged as security 650.5 196.6 

 

Note K28 Related party transactions 
Verdane Holding 26 AB owns 38.39 % of the parent company's shares and has significant influence over the group. 
Shareholdings are distributed according to the table below. Other related parties are all subsidiaries within the group, as well as 
senior executives in the group, i.e. the board of directors and the group management, and their family members. All 
transactions are carried out on market terms. 
 

Shareholding in Bellman Group AB     

      

Name 
Number of 

shares 
Ownership 

interest 

Verdane Holding 26 AB 746,598 38,39% 

Robin Karlsson through Robin Mark & Anläggning AB 178,472 9,18% 

Michel Eriksson 96,418 4,96% 

Tore Hallersbo 41,188 2,12% 

Håkan Lind and Dick Örn through Hasseludd Holding AB 207,229 10,66% 

Roger Axelsson 13,589 0,70% 

Derigo Rådgivning AB 19,446 1,00% 

Bromab i Älvsbyn AB 188,736 9,71% 

Jonas Degerman Holding AB 188,736 9,71% 

Magnus Persson through Skärså Consulting AB 188,736 9,71% 

J&P Scandinavia AB 75,494 3,88% 

Total 1,944,642 100,00% 

 
In connection with the acquisition of Bellmans in July 2017, the group received a seller loan from Hasseludd Holding AB, which 
amounts to a total of SEK 37.7 million (SEK 58.5 million), of which SEK 19.5 million (SEK 19.5 million) is a current liability and SEK 
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18.2 million (SEK 39 million) is a non-current liability. The seller loan is interest-free and is unsecured. The terms of the loan 
stipulate that installment payments begin in 2018 and that the loan must be fully repaid by 2022. 
 
Remuneration to senior executives is shown in note K8 Employee benefits. 
 

Note K29 Participations in other companies 
 
Subsidiaries 
The group's subsidiaries as of 31 December 2018 are listed below. Unless otherwise stated, they have a share capital consisting 
solely of ordinary shares held directly by the group, and the proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held 
by the group. 
 

Direct ownership     

Name of entity Ownership interest held by the group Principal activities 

Modern Sprängteknik i Norden AB 100% Rock blasting 

Bellmans Åkeri & Entreprenad AB 100% Transport 

Grundab Entreprenader i Stockholm AB 100% Transport 

VSM Entreprenad AB 100% Construction industry 

      

Indirect ownership     

Name of entity Ownership interest held by the group Principal activities 

Uppländska Bergborrnings Aktiebolaget 100% Rock blasting 

Uppländska Bergkrossnings Aktiebolag 100% Rock blasting 

Sprängarbeten i Trönödal Aktiebolag 100% Rock blasting 

VSM Rental Aktiebolag 100% Plant and machinery rental 

VSM Norge Aksjeselskap 100% Construction industry 

Munthers Specialtransporter Aktiebolag 61% Transport 

DXT Entreprenad Aktiebolag 33% Construction industry 

Kraftverksbyggarna i Söderhamn Aktiebolag 45% Construction industry 

Kraftverksbyggarna i Söderhamn Handelsbolag 50% Construction industry 

 

Note K30 Adjustment for non-cash items 
 

MSEK     

  1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2017 

Adjustment for non-cash items - 31 Dec 2018 - 31 Dec 2017 

Depreciation and amortisation 41.8 17.3 

Gain/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 2.4 -0.7 

Adjustment for finance leases - -1.5 

Total adjustment for non-cash items 44.2 15.1 

 
Note K31 Net debt reconciliation 
 

MSEK      

Net debt reconciliation Bonds 

Liabilities to 
credit 

institutions 
Finance lease 

liability Seller loan Total 

Financial year ended 31 December 2017      

Opening balance  - 22.9 4.2 - 27.1 

Cash inflow 212.0 - - - 212.0 

Cash outflow - -22.9 - - -22.9 

Non-cash items:      
- Seller loan relating to acquisition of 
subsidiary (note 14 Business combinations) - - - 58.5 58.5 

- Accrued interest 0.8 - - - 0.8 

- Finance leases - - 0.1 - 0.1 

At 31 December 2017 212.8 - 4.3 58.5 275.6 
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MSEK 
    

Net debt reconciliation Bonds 
Finance lease 

liability Seller loan Total 

Financial year ended 31 December 2018         

Opening balance  212.8 4.3 58.5 275.6 
Acquired loans - 104.3 - 104.3 

Cash inflow 268.5 - -1.3 269.8 

Cash outflow - -104.3 -22.0 -126.3 

Non-cash items:         
- Accrued interest 2.8 - - 2.8 

- Finance leases - 0.8 - 0.8 

At 31 December 2018 484.1 5.1 37.8 527.0 

 
Note K32 Events occurring after the reporting period 
On 31 January, the group acquired all shares in Samgräv Holding AB ("Samgräv") including subsidiaries. Samgräv’s principal 
activities include mediation and letting of e.g. construction machines, trucks, crane trucks, tractors, surface compactors, 
machine operators and builders. Samgräv’s operations are focused to Western Sweden and they have their own inert landfills, 
recycling facilities and quarries, as well as transportation and machinery mediation. The combination of own facilities and 
transportation and machinery mediation means an important competitive advantage in creating cost-effective and 
environmentally friendly transports for customers. The acquisition was financed through newly issued shares and issuance of 
new bonds.  
 
When the financial reports were approved for issue, the group had not yet completed the accounting of the business 
combination of Samgräv. The fair value of acquired assets and liabilities below is preliminary pending final valuation. 
 
Provisional acquisition analysis 
 

Purchase consideration: MSEK 

Cash paid 100.0 

Ordinary shares issued 44.0 

Contingent consideration 96.5 

Total purchase consideration 240.5 

 
The fair value of the 142,349 ordinary shares issued as part of the purchase price for Samgräv (SEK 44 million) was based on an 
estimated market value of SEK 309.1 per share. The fair value of treasury shares has been established using a generally accepted 
valuation method. The valuation method means that the company value is calculated using an EBITDA multiple that corresponds 
to comparable companies in the same industry. In the event that certain predetermined EBITDA levels are achieved by the 
subsidiary, an additional purchase price of up to SEK 96.5 million may be paid in cash annually until 1 January 2023.  
 
The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:  
 

Fair value MSEK 

Cash 5.8 

Trade receivables 36.3 

Buildings and land 51.9 

Plant and equipment 26.3 

Inventories 1.3 

Other current receivables 3.2 

Trade payables -35.1 

Deferred tax liabilities -2.0 

Other non-current liabilities -17.7 

Other current liabilities -9.5 

Net identifiable assets acquired 60.5 

Goodwill 180.0 

Net assets acquired 240.5 
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The goodwill is attributable to the workforce and the high profitability of the acquired business. It will not be deductible for tax 
purposes.  
 
Acquired receivables: 
The fair value of acquired trade receivables is SEK 36.3 million. The gross contractual amount for trade receivables due is SEK 
36.3 million.  
 
Acquisition-related costs:  
Acquisition-related costs of SEK 2.8 million are included in Other external expenses in profit or loss and in operating cash flows 
in the statement of cash flows during 2019.  
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PARENT COMPANY INCOME STATMENT 
 

MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 2017-04-10 

  Note -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Net sales M2 10.3 4.8 

Total income   10.3 4.8 

    

Operating expenses     

Other external expenses M3 -19.0 -8.2 

Personnel costs M4 - - 

Depreciation/amortisation and impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  -0.1 - 

Other operating expenses  - - 

Total operating expenses  -19.1 -8.2 

    

Operating profit/loss   -8.7 -3.4 

    

Other interest income and similar items M5 5.2 1.2 

Interest expenses and similar items M6 -23.7 -7.8 

Other financial items M6 -2.8 -0.8 

Total profit/loss from financial items  -21.3 -7.4 

    

Profit/loss after financial items   -30.0 -10.8 

    

Profit/loss before tax  -30.0 -10.8 

Appropriations  43.2 - 

Deferred tax expense M7 -2.9 2.4 

Net profit/loss for the year   10.3 -8.4 

 
 

PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

     

Net profit/loss for the year  10.3 -8.4 

Other comprehensive income     

Other comprehensive income for the period  - - 

Total comprehensive income for the period   10.3 -8.4 
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PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET 
 

MSEK       
  Note 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Assets     
Non-current assets     

Property, plant and equipment M8    
Equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings  0.4 0.5 

Total property, plant and equipment    0.4 0.5 

Non-current financial assets     
Participations in group companies M9 657.7 313.9 
Receivables from group companies M10 171.8 52.4 

Deferred tax assets M11 - 2.4 

Total non-current financial assets   829.5 368.7 

Total non-current assets   829.9 369.2 
    
Current assets       

Current receivables     
Receivables from group companies  1.5 2.7 
Other current receivables  0.4 - 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income  0.3 - 

Total current receivables   2.2 2.7 
Cash and cash equivalents M12    

Cash and cash equivalents  79.2 38.6 

Total current assets   81.4 41.3 

    
TOTAL ASSETS  911.3 410.5 

     

Equity and liabilities     
Equity M13, M18    
Restricted equity     

  Share capital  1.9 1.0 

Total restricted equity   1.9 1.0 
Non-restricted equity     

  Share premium  216.1 72.0 
  Retained earnings  61.7 70.1 
  Net profit/loss for the year  10.3 -8.4 

Total non-restricted equity   288.1 133.7 

Total equity  290.0 134.7 

     
Non-current liabilities M14, M17    
Bonds  484.1 212.8 

Liabilities to group companies  90.4 - 
Other non-current liabilities  18.2 39.0 

Total non-current liabilities   592.7 251.8 
Current liabilities     
Trade payables M14 3.7 0.2 

Liabilities to group companies  0.5 0.2 
Current tax liabilities  0,5 - 
Other current liabilities M14, M15 19.5 19.8 

Accrued expenses and deferred income M16 4.4 3.8 

Total current liabilities   28.6 24.0 
    

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  911.3 410.5 
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PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

MSEK 
Attributable to the shareholders of Bellman Group AB   

 Restricted equity Non-restricted equity  

 Share capital 
Share 

premium 

Retained 
earnings (incl 

net profit/loss 
for the year) 

Total 
equity 

Balance at 10 April 2017 - - - - 

Net profit/loss for the year - - -8.4 -8.4 

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - 

Total comprehensive income - - -8.4 -8.4 

New share issue 1.0 72.0 - 73.0 

Shareholder’s contribution - - 70.1 70.1 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners 1.0 72.0 70.1 143.1 

Balance at 31 December 2017 1.0 72.0 61.7 134.7 

Net profit/loss for the year - - 10.3 10.3 

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - 

Total comprehensive income - - 10.3 10.3 

New share issue ****) 0.9 144.1 - 145.0 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners 0.9 144.1 - 145.0 

Balance at 31 December 2018 1.9 216.1 72.0 290.0 

 
****) Share capital of SEK 930,468 was registered on 24 August 2018. Total equity increased by SEK 145.0 million, of which SEK 
45.0 million constitutes a cash issue and SEK 100.0 million pertains to part of the purchase price in business combinations (see 
note K14). 
 
See note M13 Equity for more information. 
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PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

MSEK     

 1 Jan 2018 2017-04-10 

 - 31 Dec 2018 - 31 Dec 2017 

Cash flow from operating activities     

Operating income/loss -8.7 -3.4 

Adjustment for non-cash items    

Depreciation and amortisation 0.1 - 

Other non-cash items 0.2 - 
 

   

Interest received 5.2 0.8 

Interest paid -23.7 -7.4 

Taxes paid - - 

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital -26.9 -10.0 

Increase/decrease in current receivables 0.8 -2.2 

Increase/decrease in current liabilities 3.6 4.1 

Total changes in working capital 4.4 1.9 

Cash flow from operating activities -22.5 -8.1 

    

Cash flow from investing activities    

Payment for acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired -243.9 -129.3 

Payments for tangible assets - -0.5 

Borrowings to group companies 15.4 -52.4 

Cash flow from investing activities -228.5 -182.2 

    

Cash flow from financing activities    

Share issue 45.0 3.0 

Shareholder contributions - 13.9 

Borrowings 280.0 220.0 

Payment of financing costs -11.4 -8.0 

Repayment of borrowings -22.0 - 

Cash flow from financing activities 291.6 228.9 

Cash flow for the period 40.6 38.6 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 38.6 - 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 79.2 38.6 
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY ACCOUNTS 
 

Note M1 Summary of significant accounting policies 
The parent company applies RFR 2 Accounting for legal entities and the Swedish Annual Accounts Act. RFR 2 prescribes that the 
Parent Company in the Annual Report of a legal entity shall apply all International Financial Reporting Standards and 
interpretations approved by the EU as far as this is possible within the framework of the Annual Accounts Act, taking into 
account the connection between reporting and taxation.  
 
Preparing annual reports in accordance with RFR 2 requires the use of important accounting estimates. Furthermore, the 
management must make certain assessments when applying the parent company's accounting principles. The areas that include 
a high degree of assessment, which are complex or where assumptions and estimates are of significant importance for the 
annual report, are stated in note K3 to the consolidated financial statements Significant estimates and judgements. 
 
The parent company applies the same accounting principles as the group, except in the cases specified in the section below: 
 
Financial statements presentation 
The parent company presents the income statement and the balance sheet in compliance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act. 
This also means differences in terms, compared to the consolidated accounts, primarily regarding financial income and expenses 
and equity. 
 
Subsidiaries 
Participations in group companies are recognised at cost less any impairment losses. The acquisition cost includes acquisition-
related costs and any contingent considerations. 
 
When there is an indication that participations in group companies have decreased in value, a calculation is made of the 
recoverable amount. If this is lower than the carrying amount, a impairment is made. Impairment losses are reported in the item 
profit/loss from participations in group companies. 
 
Financial instruments 
Accounting principles applied in 2017 
IAS 39 is not applied in the parent company, and financial instruments are valued at cost. In subsequent periods, financial assets 
that have been acquired with the intention of being held short-term will be reported at the lowest of cost and market value. 
 
Accounting principles applied from 1 January 2018 
IFRS 9 is not applied in the Parent Company. Instead, the parent company applies the rules specified in RFR 2 (IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments, p. 3-10). 
 
Financial instruments are measured at cost. In subsequent periods, financial assets that have been acquired with the intention of 
being held short-term will be reported at the lowest of cost and market value. Derivative instruments with a negative fair value 
are reported at this value. 
 
When calculating the net realisable value of receivables reported as current assets, the principles for impairment testing and 
credit loss allowance are applied in IFRS 9. 
 
Leases 
All leases are reported as operating leases, regardless of whether the agreements are financial or operational. The leasing fee is 
reported as a cost on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Appropriations 
Group contributions are reported as appropriations. 
 

Note M2 Purchases and sales between group companies 
100 % of the parent company’s sales are to group companies.  
0 % of the parent company’s purchases are from group companies. 
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Note M3 Audit fees 
 

MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 2017-04-10 

Audit fees   -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

PwC:     

- Audit assignment  0.4 0.2 

- Audit-related fees  0.9 0.6 

- Tax fees  - 0.1 

- Other services  0.6 2.0 

Total PwC   1.9 2.9 

 
Other services include general advice on accounting rules, valuation methods and formal requirements as well as language 
control. Most of the other services were delivered before the company's bonds were listed on Nasdaq. 

 
Note M4 Employee benefits 
The parent company had no employees during the financial year. For information on remuneration to senior executives, see 
note K8 Employee benefits. 
 

Note M5 Other interest income and similar items 
 

MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 2017-04-10 

Other interest income and similar items   -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Interest income from group companies  5.2 1.2 

Total other interest income and similar items   5.2 1.2 

 

Note M6 Interest expense and similar items 
 

MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 2017-04-10 

Interest expense and similar profit/loss items   -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Interest expenses for bonds  23.7 7.8 

Accrued financing costs  2.8 0.8 

Total interest expense and similar items   26.5 8.6 

 

Note M7 Income tax expense 
 

MSEK       

  1 Jan 2018 2017-04-10 

Income tax expense   -31 Dec 2018 -31 Dec 2017 

Deferred tax (note M11 Deferred tax)     

- Deferred tax attributable to tax losses  -2,9 -2.4 

Total deferred tax   -2,9 -2.4 

 
The parent company's income tax on profit before tax is in line with the theoretical amount using the tax rate in Sweden. 
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Note M8 Property, plant and equipment 
 
MSEK Equipment, 

tools, fixtures 
and fittings Property, plant and equipment 

Year ended 31 December 2017   

Opening net book amount - 

Additions 0.5 

Closing net book amount 0.5 

Year ended 31 December 2018  
Opening net book amount 0.5 

Depreciations -0.1 

Closing net book amount 0.4 

At 31 December 2018  
Cost 0.5 

Accumulated depreciations -0.1 

Net book amount 0.4 

 

Note M9 Participations in group companies 
 
The parent company's participations in group companies as of 31 December 2018 are listed below. Unless otherwise stated, 
they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly by the group, and the proportion of ownership 
interests held equals the voting rights held by the group. All subsidiaries are consolidated in the group.  
 

Direct ownership             

Name of entity 
Corporate 

identity no 
Ownership 

31 Dec, 2018 
No of 

shares 
Principal 
activities 

Registered 
office 

Book value 
31 Dec, 

2018 

Modern Sprängteknik i Norden AB  556989-1525 100% 166,000 Rock blasting Norrtälje 98.4 

Bellmans Åkeri & Entreprenad AB  556402-9006 100% 10,000 Transport Nacka 187.4 

Grundab Entreprenader i Stockholm AB 556370-9921 100% 1,000 Transport Nacka 29.3 

VSM Entreprenad AB 
  

556856-6011 100% 3,400 
Construction 

industry Järfälla 342.6 

Summa           657.7 

 

Indirect ownership           

Name of entity 
Corporate 

identity no Ownership 
No of 

shares Principal activities 
Registered 

office 

Uppländska Bergborrnings Aktiebolaget 556213-1556 100% 5,000 Rock blasting Norrtälje 

Uppländska Bergkrossnings Aktiebolag 556364-8715 100% 5,000 Rock blasting Norrtälje 

Sprängarbeten i Trönödal Aktiebolag 556415-5488 100% 1,000 Rock blasting Norrtälje 

VSM Rental Aktiebolag 556996-5568 100% 50,000 Plant and machinery rental Järfälla 

VSM Norge Aksjeselskap 998237-246  100% 100 Construction industry Oslo 

Munthers Specialtransporter Aktiebolag 556884-8963 61% 30,500 Transport Järfälla 

DXT Entreprenad Aktiebolag 559059-1045 33% 248 Construction industry Stockholm 
Kraftverksbyggarna i Söderhamn 
Aktiebolag 559076-6530 45% 225 Construction industry Söderhamn 
Kraftverksbyggarna i Söderhamn 
Handelsbolag 969766-0539 50% 1 Construction industry Söderhamn 
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Note M10 Receivables from group companies 
 

MSEK     

   
Receivables from group companies 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Opening net book amount 52.4 - 

Receivables from group companies 119.4 52.4 

Closing net book amount 171.8 52.4 

 

Note M11 Deferred tax 
MSEK     

   
Deferred tax assets 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:    
Tax losses - 2.4 

Total deferred tax assets - 2.4 

 
Movements in deferred tax assets is explained below:  
 

MSEK    
   

Deferred tax assets   Tax losses  

Year ended 31 December 2017   
Charged to the income statement  2.4 

At 31 December 2017   2.4 

   

Year ended 31 December 2018   

Charged to the income statement  -2.4 

At 31 December 2018   -2.4 

 
The assessment is that the tax losses will be recovered using future taxable income in the group. The tax losses can be carried 
forward indefinitely and have no expiry date. 
 

Note M12 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes, in both the balance sheet and the cash flow statement, cash on hand and deposits held at call 
with financial institutions. 
 

Note M13 Equity 
For information on the parent company's equity, refer to note K22 to the consolidated financial statements, Equity. 

 
Note M14 Borrowings 
 

MSEK 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Borrowings Current 
Non-

current Total Current 
Non-

current Total 

Secured             

Bonds - 484.1 484.1 - 212.8 212.8 

Total secured borrowings - 484.1 484.1 - 212.8 212.8 

       
Unsecured       
Trade payables 3.7 - 3.7 0.2 - 0.2 

Seller loan 19.5 18.2 37.7 19.5 39.0 58.5 

Total unsecured borrowings 23.2 18.2 41.4 19.7 39.0 58.7 

Total borrowings 23.2 502.3 525.5 19.7 251.8 271.5 
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Contractual maturities of non-current financial liabilities: 
 
MSEK 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Borrowings 1-5 years 
Over 5 

years Total 1-5 years 
Over 5 

years Total 

Secured             

Bonds 484.1 - 484.1 212.8 - 212.8 

Total secured borrowings 484.1 - 484.1 212.8 - 212.8 

       
Unsecured       
Seller loan 18.2 - 18.2 39.0 - 39.0 

Total unsecured borrowings 18.2 - 18.2 39.0 - 39.0 

Total borrowings 502.3 - 502.3 251.8 - 251.8 

 
The parent company has issued corporate bonds that are listed on Nasdaq Stockholm. This instrument is listed as BELLMAN 
GROUP AB 01 with 500 units (220 units), with a total outstanding nominal amount of SEK 500 million (SEK 220 million) and has a 
nominal value of SEK 1.0 million (SEK 1.0 million) per unit. Financing expenses of SEK 11,6 million (SEK 8.3 million) attributable to 
the bond loan have been reported against the loan. The bond interest rate is variable interest three months STIBOR plus 6.50 
percent, which is paid quarterly in arrears. The bond matures in June 2022. The parent company has provided shares in 
subsidiaries as collateral for the bond loan. The terms of the bond include an option that entitles the holder to the early 
repayment of the loan. This option is reported as a derivative and is classified as a financial asset that is measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. The terms of the corporate bond loan are available on Bellman Group AB's (publ) website, 
www.bellmangroup.se. 
 
The seller loan amounts to a total of SEK 37.7 million (SEK 58.5 million), of which SEK 19.5 million (SEK 19.5 million) is a current 
liability and SEK 18.2 million (SEK 39.0 million) is a non-current liability. The seller loan runs without interest and is unsecured. 
The terms of the loan stipulate that instalment payments begin in 2018 and that the loan must be fully repaid by 2022. 
 
Covenants 
Under the terms and conditions of the bonds, certain covenants must be met each time the Group enters into a new business 
combination. All covenants were met in connection with the acquisitions of MST and Bellmans. 
 

Note M15 Other current liabilities 
 

MSEK       

     

Other current liabilities   31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

VAT  - 0.3 

Current part of seller loan  19.5 19.5 

Total other current liabilities   19.5 19.8 

 
The carrying amounts of other current liabilities are considered to be the same as their fair values, since the impact of 
discounting is not significant.  
 

  

http://www.bellmangroup.se/
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Note M16 Accrued expenses and deferred income 
 

MSEK       

     

Accrued expenses and deferred income   31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Accrued interest expenses  1.1 0.5 

Other items  3.3 3.3 

Total accrued expenses and deferred income   4.4 3.8 

 

Note M17 Assets pledged as security 
 

MSEK       

     

Assets pledged as security   31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017 

Bonds:     

- Shares in subsidiaries  657.7 313.9 

- Receivables on group companies  171.8 52.4 

Total assets pledged as security   829.5 366.3 

 

Note M18 Proposed appropriation of profits 
 
The following profits are at the disposal of the Annual General Meeting: 

Amounts in SEK    
Share premium   216,104,791 

Retained earnings   61,658,950 

Net profit/loss for the year   10,214,163 

Total     287,977,904 

 
 

The Board of Directors proposes that profits brought forward be appropriated as follows: 
 

To be carried forward   287,977,904 

Total     287,977,904 
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DEFINITIONS AND USE OF NON-IFRS MEASURES  
 
Below are descriptions of key ratios and descriptions of non-IFRS performance measures. A reconciliation of alternative 
performance measures (APMs) is shown in a separate document, which is published together with this annual report, see 
www.bellmangroup.se.  
 
The APMs that have not been calculated according to IFRS and which are presented in this report do not constitute recognised 
valuation principles for financial position or liquidity according to IFRS, but are used by the Bellman Group to monitor the 
financial outcome of the group's operations and the group's financial position. The APMs presented in the report shall always be 
viewed together with the information presented in the income statement, balance sheet, cash flow statement and key ratios, 
which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. 
 
The Bellman Group reports these APMs since they considers them to be important complementary measures of profitability and 
financial position, and that these measures are often used by external stakeholders in order to assess and compare business-
economic outcomes and financial position. When comparing the APMs presented here, the calculation for other companies may 
have been made with different definitions, which means that the outcome is not directly comparable. 
 
APM Description 
Cash flow from operating activities Operating profit adjusted for non-cash items, sales of machinery and equipment, and changes in 

working capital. 
 

Earnings per share Profit for the year attributable to parent company shareholders divided by average number of 
outstanding ordinary shares. 
 

EBITDA Profit before net financial income/expense, tax, depreciation, amortisation and impairment. 
EBITDA is a measure which the Group considers to be relevant for investors who want to 
understand the company’s earnings performance before investments in non-current assets. 
 

EBITDA-margin EBITDA as a percentage of net sales for the period. 
 

Equity/assets ratio Equity including non-controlling interests, expressed as a percentage of total assets. This key 
ratio is used to show financial risk, expressed as the percentage of total assets that is financed 
by the owners. 
 

Items affecting comparability Items which occur rarely or are unusual in the ordinary course of business, such as start-up costs, 
restructuring costs and acquisition costs. 
 

Interest bearing net debt Interest-bearing liabilities less cash and cash equivalents. This key ratio shows the Group’s total 
interest-bearing liabilities. 
 

Net sales The group recognises revenue when the amount can be reliably measured, it is probable that 
future economic benefits will accrue to the company and specific criteria have been met for each 
of the group’s businesses. For time and materials service contracts, revenue is recognised in the 
period in which the services are performed. 
 

Operating margin Operating profit as a percentage of net sales for the period. 
 

Order backlogs The value of remaining, not yet accrued project revenues from orders on hand at the end of the 
period. 
 

Net debt Interest-bearing liabilities plus contingent consideration related to Bellmans less cash and cash 
equivalents. 
 

 
Organic growth  

The change in net sales adjusted for acquisitions and sales compared with the same period in 
the previous year. 
 

Working capital Working capital is calculated as current operating assets (inventories, trade receivables and 
other current non-interest-bearing receivables, excluding tax assets) less current operating 
liabilities (trade payables and other current non-interest-bearing liabilities, excluding tax 
liabilities). This measure shows how much working capital is tied up in operating activities and 
can be expressed as a percentage of net sales to gain an understanding of how efficiently the 
tied-up working capital is being used. 

 
  

http://www.bellmangroup.se/


ANNUAL REPORT 2018 

 

64 
 

The consolidated and parent company income statements and balance sheet will be submitted for adoption by the Annual General Meeting on 
7 May 2019. 
 
The Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer affirm that the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and provide a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position and 
results. The annual accounts of the parent company have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting standards in Sweden 
and provide a true and fair view of the parent company’s financial position and results. The Directors’ Report for the Group and parent company 
gives a true and fair overview of the development of the Group’s and parent company’s activities, their financial position and results, and 
describes significant risks and uncertainties affecting the parent company and the companies in the Group. 

 

Stockholm, 23 April 2019 
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